



WIPO/IP/GR/05/3
ORIGINAL: English
DATE: May 12, 2005

WORLD INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ORGANIZATION

GENEVA

AD HOC INTERGOVERNMENTAL MEETING ON GENETIC RESOURCES AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

Geneva, June 3, 2005

EXAMINATION OF ISSUES RELATING TO THE INTERRELATION OF ACCESS TO GENETIC RESOURCES AN DISCLOSURE REQUIRE MENTS IN INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS APPLICATIONS

SECOND DRAFT

Document prepared by the Secretariat

CONTENTS

PART I: INTRODUCTION	3
CONTEXT OF THIS DOCUMENT	3
SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED FROM WIPO MEMBER STATES AND ACCREDITED OBSERVERS	
BACKGROUND TO THIS DRAFT EXAMINATION	
Contents and status of this document	4
Background to the Invitation of the CBD COP	5
FAO International Treaty	
Objectives of the CBD	
User measures in the context of access and benefit sharing	
Member State views on the nature of this document	
Subject matter	
PART II: OVERVIEW OF EXISTING PROPOSALS AND MECHANISMS	16
INTERNATIONAL MEASURES AND DECLARATIONS	
Bonn Guidelines	
WTO TRIPS Council	
DRAFT SUBSTANTIVE PATENT LAW TREATY	
PATENT COOPERATION TREATY	
Proposal by Switzerland to amend the PCT Regulations	
REGIONAL MEASURES	
The Andean Community	
European Community	
NATIONAL PROPOSALS AND MEASURES	
Costa Rica	
Egypt	
India	
Various mechanisms within existing patent law	
PART III: TECHNICAL AND LEGAL BACKGROUND	27
TRIPS COUNCIL	36
Disclosure of source and country of origin of the biological resource and of the traditional knowledge	
used in the invention	
Disclosure of evidence of prior informed consent under the relevant national regime	37
Disclosure of evidence of benefit sharing under the relevant national regime	37
PART IV: SPECIFIC ISSUES IN THE CBD COP INVITATION	39
A. OPTIONS FOR MODEL PROVISIONS	39
Form or status of model provisions	
Substance of model provisions	
Some possible functions of disclosure requirements	
Other guidance on options for disclosure requirements	
Concerns about or limits to the development of model provisions	
Specific elements of model provisions	
B. TRIGGERS FOR DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS	53
C. INCENTIVE MEASURES FOR APPLICANTS	58
Possible undesirable or perverse incentives	
D. IMPLICATIONS FOR WIPO TREATIES	
PROVISIONS OF WIPO TREATIES	
Paris Convention	
Patent Law Treaty	
The Patent Cooperation Treaty	
General guidance on indentifying the implications for WIPO treaties	
E. INTERNATIONAL CERTIFICATION	
Implications for the operation of patent systems	
Comments on certification issues	
PART V: CONCLUSIONS	82

PART I: INTRODUCTION

Context of this document

1. This document examines a range of issues regarding the interrelation of access to genetic resources and disclosure requirements in intellectual property rights applications. It is one step in developing a response to the Conference of Parties (COP) of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), which has (in Decision VII/19) invited the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) to:

"examine, and where appropriate address, taking into account the need to ensure that this work is supportive of and does not run counter to the objectives of the CBD, issues regarding the interrelation of access to genetic resources and disclosure requirements in intellectual property rights applications, including, *inter alia*:

- (a) Options for model provisions on proposed disclosure requirements;
- (b) Practical options for intellectual property rights application procedures with regard to the triggers of disclosure requirements;
 - (c) Options for incentive measures for applicants;
- (d) Identification of the implications for the functioning of disclosure requirements in various WIPO-administered treaties;
- (e) Intellectual property-related issues raised by a proposed international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance;

and regularly provide reports to the CBD on its work, in particular on actions or steps proposed to address the above issues, in order for the CBD to provide additional information to WIPO for its consideration in the spirit of mutual supportiveness."

- 2. The WIPO General Assembly decided on a process to respond to the COP invitation. Briefly, this included (i) an invitation by WIPO Member States to submit comments and proposals by December 15, 2004; (ii) the preparation of a draft examination and its circulation for comments by the end of January 2005; (iii) observations and comments on the draft to be submitted by Member States and accredited observers by the end of March 2005; (iv) publication on the website and in a consolidated document of all comments and observations received; (v) convening of a one-day *ad hoc* intergovernmental meeting to consider and discuss a revised version of the draft which would be available at least 15 days before the Meeting; (vi) preparation of a further revised draft to be presented to the WIPO General Assembly at its ordinary session in September 2005 for consideration and decision.
- 3. The present draft is the revised document foreseen in step (v) of this process. It is a revision of the first draft examination, document WIPO/GRTKF/GR/05/01, which was earlier prepared and circulated for comment in accordance with step (iii) of the process. Further details of the background to the process are provided in the Annex.
- 4. Step (v) also proposes a one-day *ad hoc* intergovernmental meeting. The Ad hoc Intergovernmental Meeting on Genetic Resources and Disclosure Requirements is accordingly scheduled to be held in Geneva on June 3, 2005 (http://www.wipo.int/meetings/en/details.jsp?meeting_id=7683).

Submissions received from WIPO Member States and accredited observers

- 5. The first step in the procedure agreed by the WIPO General Assembly was for the Director General of WIPO to invite all Member States 'to submit proposals and suggestions before December 15, 2004'. The invitation was accordingly circulated (C.7092 and C. 7093, November 10, 2004). By December 15, 2004, submissions had been received from the following Member States and groups of Member States: African Group, Australia, Belize, Brazil, Colombia, the European Community and its Member States, Ghana, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Japan, the Kyrgyz Republic, Peru on behalf of the Andean Community, the Russian Federation, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United States of America. These were posted on line at www.wipo.int/tk/en/genetic/proposals/index.html#proposals, and were circulated first as a provisional collation, then as document WIPO/IP/GR/05/INF/1.
- In line with the second step in the agreed procedure, an initial draft examination of the 6. issues (document WIPO/IP/GR/05/1) was prepared on the basis of the guidance received from Member States, and was circulated at the end of January. The third step in the procedure was for observations and comments on the initial draft to be submitted by Member States and accredited observers by the end of March 2005. By May 12, 2005, observations and comments on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1 had been received from four Member States - Brazil, Japan, Switzerland, and the United States of America - and from two accredited observers - the Berne Declaration and the Centre for International Environmental Law (CIEL). These comments have been added to the above website. Collations of the two sets of comments are being circulated before the ad hoc intergovernmental meeting (as documents WIPO/IP/GR/05/INF/1 and WIPO/IP/GR/05/INF/2 respectively). To distinguish references to the two sets of comments in the present document, references to 'comments of [Member State]' identify material received in the first comment period (stage (i) in the agreed procedure, document WIPO/IP/GR/05/INF/1). References to 'comments of [...] on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1' identify material received in the second comment period (stage (iii), document WIPO/IP/GR/05/INF/2).

Background to this draft examination

Contents and status of this document

- 7. This document is a draft only, as provided in the agreed process, and is intended to provide a basis for the continuing dialogue foreseen by the WIPO General Assembly. It attempts to provide a synthesized information resource, based as far as possible on existing material. It contains several summaries of the issues raised, and a table of disclosure mechanisms discussed; these are not intended to prejudge or prescribe any approach, but to provide a possible framework for this information to be presented in an accessible, concise and neutral manner. These draft summaries and table may not be acceptable in their present form and may be considered as placeholders for future development, if appropriate.
- 8. This initial draft examination draws as far as possible on the guidance directly provided by WIPO Member States in the agreed procedure, on the submissions and proposals made by WIPO Member States within WIPO and in other forums, on existing national and regional laws, and on the earlier study prepared by WIPO (publication 786(E); the text is also available in the six official languages of WIPO as document WO/GA/30/7 Add.1).
- 9. As this draft aims to follow these materials very closely, some relevant material is entirely duplicated from previous documents. These include specific Member State proposals, and relevant technical passages from the Technical Study (such as those setting out

relevant provisions of WIPO treaties relevant to this examination, which aim to introduce no new material but to make available existing material in context).

- 10. The earlier WIPO technical study on this issue was transmitted to the CBD COP with the following clarification of its status:
 - "The attached draft technical study has been prepared to contribute to international discussion and analysis of this general issue, and to help clarify some of the legal and policy matters it raises. It has not been prepared to advocate any particular approach nor to expound a definitive interpretation of any treaty. It is to be regarded as a technical input to facilitate policy discussion and analysis in the Convention on Biological Diversity and in other fora, and it should not be considered a formal paper expressing a policy position on the part of WIPO, its Secretariat or its Member States."
- 11. The present draft has been prepared in a similar vein, and it may be considered appropriate for it to be accompanied by a similar disclaimer. This would be consistent with the position put by a number of WIPO Member States on the current process (see comments cited below, in particular those of the Islamic Republic of Iran, which specifically proposes a similar disclaimer). Since the present draft also contains comments by two accredited observers, the disclaimer could also extend to observers as well. Part V (Conclusions) contains specific proposals in this regard.

Background to the Invitation of the CBD COP

- 12. The most recent invitation from the CBD COP follows a series of invitations, which led *inter alia* to the preparation of a UNEP-WIPO Study on IP aspects of ABS, ¹ the earlier Technical Study on disclosure issues, and work on guidelines relating to IP and the mutually agreed terms established in ABS arrangements. These past invitations have included:
 - inviting WIPO to 'analyse issues of intellectual property rights as they relate to access to genetic resources and benefit-sharing, including the provision of information on the origin of genetic resources, if known, when submitting applications for intellectual property rights, including patents' (V/26)
 - requesting WIPO to 'take due account of relevant provisions of the CBD, including
 the impact of intellectual property rights on the conservation and sustainable use of
 biological diversity, and in particular the value of knowledge, innovations and
 practices of indigenous and local communities embodying traditional lifestyles
 relevant for the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity' (V/26)
 - encouraging WIPO 'to make rapid progress in the development of model intellectual property clauses which may be considered for inclusion in contractual agreements when mutually agreed terms are under negotiation' (decision IV/24)
 - inviting WIPO 'to take into account the lifestyles and the traditional systems of
 access and use of the knowledge, technologies and practices of indigenous and local
 communities embodying traditional lifestyles relevant to the conservation and
 sustainable use of biological diversity in its work and the relevant recommendations
 of the COP' (VI/9)
 - inviting WIPO 'to further strengthen the complementarity of its work programme

See footnote 8 below for the background to this study, and information on important limitations on its status.

with that of the Convention on intellectual property issues arising from access and benefit-sharing and Article 8(j) and related provisions and to provide appropriate information on these issues with a view to enhancing mutual supportiveness in the relevant work programmes that fall within the respective mandates of the Convention and the Organization' (VI/20)

- 13. Accordingly, the most recent invitation from the CBD COP (including the preparation of this draft 'examination' of issues) may take account of these earlier invitations and the ongoing dialogue and cooperation that is envisaged. In addition, some distinct aspects of the most recent invitation, including those underscored by WIPO Member States (recalling also the context of the decision taken by the CBD COP), are as follows:
- (a) WIPO is invited to 'examine' issues regarding the interrelation of access to genetic resources and disclosure requirements in IP rights applications and the five specific issues stipulated, and is only invited to 'address' them *where appropriate;*²
- (b) The invitation signals the need to ensure that this work is supportive of and does not run counter to the objectives of the CBD:³ this suggests a focus on advancing the conservation of biological diversity, the sustainable use of its components, and fair and equitable sharing of benefits from the use of genetic resources;
- (c) The five specific sets of issues that are enumerated are not necessarily exhaustive, suggesting that the invitation potentially considers a broader set of issues (as implied by the term 'inter alia');
- (d) The invitation appears potentially to relate to work within WIPO, but also foresees a reporting process to the CBD COP, to be followed by a continuing feedback process (so the CBD would 'provide additional information to WIPO for its consideration in the spirit of mutual supportiveness'). This raises, in principle at least, the possibility of WIPO forwarding to the CBD any specific questions concerning the implications and operations of the CBD for its guidance.
- (e) In addition, the same COP decision requested the Ad hoc Open-ended Working Group on Access and Benefit-Sharing to identify issues related to the disclosure of origin of GR and associated TK in applications for IP rights, including those raised by a proposed international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance, and transmit the results of this examination to WIPO. This suggests that, depending on the CBD's own procedures, there may be further input from the CBD that may be relevant to the current examination: this may apply especially to the fifth element of the CBD COP decision, concerning certification (see discussion in Part IV.E below), given that the Working Group was requested to consider certification in particular. The Working Group met from February 14 to 18 February, 2005 for its third meeting, 4 and is due to meet again from March 13 to 17, 2006.

See, e.g., comments of the African Group

The report of the third meeting (UNEP/CBD/WG-ABS/3/7, dated March 3, 2000) includes a number of references to disclosure of origin, source and/or legal provenance of genetic resources and associated TK, including references by participants in the meeting of the Working Group. The report does not include explicit guidance directed to WIPO, but among other things include 'disclosure of origin/source/legal provenance of genetic resources and associated traditional knowledge in applications for intellectual property rights' as one of the "elements to be considered for inclusion" in the projected international regime on access and benefit-sharing, in Annex I of the report which sets out "views and proposals on the international regime."

² See comments of Brazil

- (f) The invitation refers to 'intellectual property' applications. This term seems to refer in particular to applications for registration of industrial property titles. The most often considered forms of industrial property are patents (and related forms such as utility models, plant patents and petty patents/innovation patents and the like), and plant breeder's rights or plant variety rights. The latter form of IP is not within the competence of WIPO, and is the province of the International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (UPOV). In response to a request of the Executive Secretary of the CBD, UPOV has developed a reply, based on the principles of the UPOV Convention, in order to provide some guidance on UPOV's views on the "process, nature, scope, elements and modalities of an international regime on access to genetic resources and benefit-sharing" (available at www.upov.int/en/news/2003/intro_cbd.html). Other forms of industrial property with potential bearing on access and benefit sharing include the law of distinctive indications (trade marks, collective and certification marks, and geographical indications) and trade names, but these are not covered in the present document.
- (g) The relevant international legal framework includes multilateral environmental agreements (MEAs) such as the CBD, agreements dealing with access to and use of genetic resources (the FAO International Treaty and the CBD), and IP provisions both within WIPO and beyond it (including UPOV and the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) of the World Trade Organization (WTO). WIPO does not have competence to make definitive comment on these areas, apart from specific IP measures, legal and policy concepts, and legal instruments within its competence. Nonetheless, there is a strong expectation that WIPO should be guided by and seek to support the objectives and the legal provisions of this broader body of legal and policy materials. For instance, the African Group underlined 'the importance it attaches to the mutual supportiveness mentioned in the invitation between CBD and WIPO. This mutual supportiveness entails making the intellectual property system, and in particular the patent system, supportive of the protection [of] bio-diversity, through the introduction of legally binding measures..."
- 14. The COP decision also refers to the previous WIPO technical study in the following terms: "Noting with appreciation the Technical Study on Disclosure Requirements Concerning Genetic Resources and Traditional Knowledge prepared by World Intellectual Property Organization at the request of the Conference of the Parties in decision VI/24 C and considering the contents of the Technical Study to be helpful in the consideration of intellectual property-related aspects of user measures." This suggests that elements of the technical study may also be usefully drawn upon in undertaking an examination that was subsequently proposed as a further step in this process.

Relationship with current WIPO activities

- 15. As noted above the CBD COP invited WIPO to 'examine and, where appropriate, address' certain issues relating to disclosure and access to genetic resources, and regularly to provide reports to the CBD on its work. This document 'examines' these issues in four main ways:
 - by citing Member State commentary on the issues
 - by citing relevant proposals in WIPO and other forums
 - by extracting material from the Technical Study that is relevant to the specific issues raised

See e.g. comments of the African Group:

See document UNEP/CBD/COP/7/6, Annex, page 27.

- by summarizing or distilling key issues, without seeking to prejudge them, including through an illustrative table of disclosure mechanisms
- 16. The invitation from the COP suggests three steps on the part of WIPO examining the issues, addressing them where appropriate, and reporting regularly to the CBD. As required by the WIPO General Assembly decision, this draft has been prepared as an initial draft 'examination' of substantive technical issues. This 'examination' may or may not be viewed by WIPO Member States as part of 'addressing' the issues, and as constituting the first (or the sole) regular 'report' as foreseen by the CBD COP Decision. Additionally, the 'report' that the CBD COP has invited may, potentially, cover more WIPO processes than simply the preparation of this draft examination.
- 17. Accordingly, as a separate question, WIPO Member States may wish to consider further the relationship between the present examination and the invitation to inform the CBD regularly of relevant developments. It may also require consideration of how relevant parts of WIPO's work program may, 'where, appropriate, address' these issues may arise (notably in the Standing Committee on the Law of Patents (SCP), the Working Group on PCT Reform, and the Intergovernmental Committee on Intellectual Property and Genetic Resources, Traditional Knowledge and Folklore (IGC). Options may include an annual update prepared for the WIPO General Assembly to be passed to the CBD, or a biennial report to be prepared in synchronization with the sessions of the CBD COP.
- 18. Concerning WIPO work on this issue other than preparation of the current examination, CIEL comments that "whereas collaborating with the CBD process is valuable, the WIPO response should make clear that such collaboration does not replace nor detract from discussions aimed at ensuring international intellectual property rules in WIPO and other fora do not promote or permit the misappropriation of genetic resources and traditional knowledge. International intellectual property rules need to be modified to guarantee they do not allow illegal and unethical practices, and thus do not undermine sustainable development objectives and rules. The priority of the work on genetic resources and traditional knowledge in WIPO and other intellectual property fora should thus focus on adequately modifying those rules."

Memorandum of Understanding

19. This process of ongoing cooperation, information exchange and technical input 'in the spirit of mutual supportiveness' is also consistent with the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) concluded between the CBD Secretariat and WIPO (see document WO/CC/48/2 of July 24, 2002). This MoU recalled COP Decision IV/9 which requested the Executive Secretary 'to seek ways ... to enhance cooperation between the Convention on Biological Diversity and WIPO' and decision V/26 (B)(3) which 'requested the Executive Secretary to endeavour to undertake further cooperation and consultation with WIPO on issues regarding intellectual property rights and relevant provisions of the Convention.' It also recalled COP decision V/26 (A)(15)(e) inviting WIPO 'to analyse issues of intellectual property rights as they relate to access to genetic resources and benefit-sharing, and requested WIPO, among others, in its work on intellectual property rights issues, to take due account of relevant provisions of the Convention, including the impact of intellectual property rights on the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, and in particular the value of

⁷ CIEL comments on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities embodying traditional lifestyles relevant to the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity.'

- 20. The MoU also recalled 'the indication by the [IGC] that WIPO should address the intellectual property issues before the [IGC] in conjunction with the CBD Secretariat and the Secretariat of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, to ensure that WIPO's work continues to be consistent with and complementary to the work being done by those Organizations' and recognized the 'need to enhance the mutually supportive relationship between WIPO and the [CBD] by establishing appropriate arrangements for cooperation between them on these issues.' The MoU provided, *inter alia*, that the 'CBD Secretariat and WIPO will, upon request and subject to the approval of their competent subsidiary bodies, undertake studies and provide other technical inputs in writing to the governing or competent subsidiary bodies of the requesting Party on issues within their areas of competence, as necessary for the advancement of their respective programs of work' and will 'mutually support one another in the undertaking and promotion of activities and projects relevant to their respective mandates.'
- 21. It may be noted also that WIPO's Agreement with the United Nations includes (Article 2) an undertaking to 'co-operate in whatever measures may be necessary to make co-ordination of the policies and activities of the United Nations and those of the organs and agencies within the United Nations system fully effective.'

FAO International Treaty

The International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (ITPGR) under the auspices of the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) is another important element of the international framework for access to genetic resources and benefit-sharing, and may also need to be taken into account. The ITPGR provides for a multilateral approach to access and benefit-sharing, in which sovereign rights of States over their own genetic resources are recognized, and it is agreed, in the exercise of these rights, to establish an open multilateral system of exchange. Such a system is exemplified in the work and functioning of the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research and is to be established under Part IV of the ITPGR in the form of a Multilateral System of Access and Benefitsharing (MLS). The MLS will include the plant genetic resources for food and agriculture listed under Annex 1 of the ITPGR and which are under the management and control of Contracting Parties and in the public domain. The MLS will provide for facilitated access in accordance with certain conditions and benefit-sharing through mechanisms of information exchange, access to and transfer of technology, capacity-building, and the sharing of the benefits arising from commercialization. Whereas the CBD defines the term "country of origin of genetic resources" (Article 2), the ITPGR uses the term "center of origin" of plant genetic resources (Article 2), reflecting the fact that for many such resources a single country of origin may not easily be determined. This may need to be taken into account when considering references to the source or origin of relevant genetic resources.

Objectives of the CBD

23. The invitation calls on WIPO to take 'into account the need to ensure that this work is supportive of and does not run counter to the objectives of the CBD.' This draft examination does not purport to analyse or interpret the CBD and its objectives; and it should be noted that the invitation refers to a feedback process whereby the CBD would "provide additional"

information to WIPO for its consideration in the spirit of mutual supportiveness." This may provide an opportunity for input to WIPO on relevant aspects of the objectives of the CBD.

- 24. The objectives of the CBD (as expressed in Article 1) are threefold:
 - the conservation of biological diversity,
 - the sustainable use of its components, and
 - the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilization of genetic resources, including by appropriate access to genetic resources and by appropriate transfer of relevant technologies, taking into account all rights over those resources and to technologies, and by appropriate funding.
- 25. While this examination seeks to take full account of each of these objectives, the emphasis in discussions within WIPO, and more generally concerning the relationship between the IP system and the CBD, has been on the third of these objectives, namely the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the use of genetic resources. For example, the CBD COP commented that the previous WIPO Technical Study was 'helpful in the consideration of intellectual property-related aspects of user measures.' User measures are mentioned in the CBD 'Bonn Guidelines on Access to Genetic Resources and Fair and Equitable Sharing of the Benefits Arising out of their Utilization' ('Bonn Guidelines'), decribed as 'appropriate legal, administrative or policy measures, as appropriate, to support compliance with prior informed consent of the Contracting Party providing [genetic] resources and mutually agreed terms on which access was granted.'
- 26. Hence, while all three objectives are clearly of high importance, in practical terms the focus in discussions on disclosure requirements has been on the third objective, equitable benefit-sharing, and this current examination, with the guidance of Member States and other stakeholders, is likely to focus on this objective as well. That said, the impact on conservation of biological diversity (the first objective of the CBD) and the sustainable use of its components (its second objective) are clearly important, as is the impact on maintaining and respecting traditional knowledge (TK). For example, a background study on this issue commissioned by UNEP and WIPO observed:

"Some associations of TK holders have maintained that the acknowledgment of contributions of local knowledge providers and innovators should be required for TK-based patent applications. They have maintained that such disclosure requirements are a form of acknowledgement of TK which would promote the conservation of TK systems, because through such acknowledgement of TK communities would learn more about the value of their own knowledge and thus may have increased incentives to conserve."

'WIPO-UNEP Study on the Role of Intellectual Property Rights in the Sharing of Benefits Arising from the Use of Biological Resources and Associated Traditional Knowledge,' p. 149 (at http://www.wipo.int/tk/en/publications/769e unep tk.pdf). This study was developed, commissioned and published jointly by UNEP and WIPO, in line with the approved WIPO program and budget for the biennium 2000-2001 (subprogram 11.2, document A/34/2 and WO/PBC/1/2). The original three case studies were circulated to the CBD COP at its fifth session as document UNEP/CBD/COP/5/INF/26. The study was elaborated in response to the invitation in decision V/26 of the CBD COP. An enhanced draft was made available by UNEP at CBD COP VI for further comments and improvement, and a further draft was circulated for the consideration of CBD COP VII. However, it should be stressed that the study does not

27. In addition to the objectives formally specified in the CBD, the African Group also links the invitation to a need to support and not run counter to the 'objectives and principles of the CBD.' In this context, the African Group highlights the 'objectives and principles enshrined in Articles 3, 15 and 16 of the CBD.' These Articles refer respectively to the sovereign right of States to exploit their own resources and the responsibility of States to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment (Article 3); access to genetic resources (Article 15); and access to and transfer of technology (Article 16).

User measures in the context of access and benefit sharing

28. The relevance and utility of disclosure requirements in patent applications forms part of a more general study of the ways in which laws and legal mechanisms in so-called 'user' countries (that is to say, those countries that are likely to make commercial and scientific use of genetic resources); as one recent study characterizes such measures:

"While most countries are both 'providers' and 'users' of genetic resources, there has been a tendency in the international debate on access to genetic resources and benefit-sharing (ABS) to view developing countries as primarily 'providers' of such resources, while more industrialized, developed countries - and, specifically, the private sector businesses and scientific research institutions within their jurisdictions - have been portrayed as 'users' of these genetic resources. Such generalizations are of course not absolutely true and in many cases industrialized countries, such as Australia, are also important providers, while some developing countries, such as Brazil, have highly developed biotechnology and agro-industrial capacities. This study is based on the premise that user measures should at first instance be adopted primarily by countries with extensive biotechnology, pharmaceutical, and agro-industrial capacity to control use of genetic resources for scientific and commercial research and development activities in their jurisdictions."

Member State views on the nature of this document

- 29. A number of Member State submissions provided guidance on the nature of this present document, in particular:
- (a) The response should be fully mindful of all discussions on the interaction between genetic resources and disclosure requirements (in particular, the SCP), the Working Group on PCT Reform, and the IGC.
- (b) It should set out, take full account of, and reflect all proposals and views regarding patent disclosure requirement and genetic resources that may have been made by

represent the views of UNEP, WIPO, WIPO Member States or the WIPO Secretariat, and was prepared as a background resource in the form of specific case studies. It is cited in this study to provide background information only, and not to advance or condone any position or analysis.

[[]Footnote continued from previous page]

User Measures: Options for Developing Measures in User Countries to Implement the Access and Benefit-Sharing Provisions of the Convention on Biological Diversity, UNU/IAS Report, March 2003, at 16.

See comments of Brazil

WIPO Member States in different for both within WIPO and beyond it, without prejudice to the positions of Member States on these matters. ¹¹

- (c) WIPO should not pass judgment on different options nor seek to advocate specific approaches to the detriment of others. ¹²
- (d) Any response should be regarded as technical input to facilitate policy discussion and it should not be considered as a formal paper or a policy position on the part of WIPO, its Secretariat or its Member States.¹³
- (e) WIPO should preferably limit its work on the comments made by delegations in various bodies rather than going into details before the decision of the WIPO General Assembly in 2005. 14
- (f) It is more suitable that the preliminary response be general and limited to the existing discussions in different bodies of WIPO in the context of CBD objectives.¹⁵
- (g) The concept that the work should be supportive and should not run counter to the objectives and principles of the CBD 'must be a fundamental guiding principle in WIPO's work.' This entails 'making the IP system, and in particular the patent system, supportive of the protection [of] bio-diversity, through the introduction of legally binding measures such as the disclosure of the source and country of origin of the biological resources and associated traditional knowledge used in the invention and evidence of compliance with national access and benefit sharing laws of the country of origin of the genetic resources, as requirements for the granting of patents.'¹⁶
- (h) The matter 'has an interdisciplinary nature with technical, political, economical and social aspects.' ¹⁷
- 30. Additional comments on this document and its context were provided by CIEL. ¹⁸ In commenting extensively on the respective roles and mandates of the CBD and WIPO, CIEL underscored that WIPO 'is only able to provide peripheral input into the CBD process' and that 'the WIPO response is only one particular contribution to the discussion and analysis of disclosure requirements and should be considered alongside the work of other relevant international organizations.' It drew particular attention to the work of UNCTAD in this regard, citing the Sao Paolo Consensus (TD/410, 25 June 2004), and noted the work of the FAO, UNEP, and the WTO. It proposed that WIPO should confirm to the CBD that the present document 'is only one particular contribution to the discussion and analysis of disclosure requirements and should be considered alongside the work of other relevant international organizations.'

Subject matter

31. This section briefly reviews the subject matter that may be relevant to the five limbs of the CBD invitation. The various proposals and measures differ significantly in the subject matter covered; there are various references, for example, to biological materials, biological

See comments of the African Group and Brazil

See comments of the African Group and Brazil

See comments of the Islamic Republic of Iran

See comments of the Islamic Republic of Iran

See comments of the Islamic Republic of Iran

See comments of the African Group; the comments by the Berne Declaration on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1 make a similar point.

See comments of Kyrgyzstan.

Comments by CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

resources, genetic material and genetic resources. Member State submissions have used a range of terms, with potentially diverse implications. So as not to prejudge the scope of the examination, these will be referred to collectively as 'GBMR' (genetic or biological materials or resources). Several of these terms are defined in the CBD itself:

"Biological resources" includes genetic resources, organisms or parts thereof, populations, or any other biotic component of ecosystems with actual or potential use or value for humanity.

"Genetic material" means any material of plant, animal, microbial or other origin containing functional units of heredity.

"Genetic resources" means genetic material of actual or potential value.

- 32. These terms have been employed in various ways in different proposals concerning patent disclosure requirements. The chief points of difference appear to be that 'genetic' subject matter must contain the functional units of heredity, whereas 'biological' subject matter need not; and 'resources' have actual or potential value (or 'use' in the case of biological resources). Logically, 'genetic' is a more limited category than 'biological,' as is 'resources' as against 'material'. These distinctions may be relevant in determining the scope of disclosure requirements and their implications for the patent system. For example, if a disclosure requirement is limited to genetic resources, could it suggest that an invention is relevant if it makes use of the functional units of heredity present in a resource? Equally, does a disclosure requirement limited to 'resources' only apply if the invention makes use of 'actual or potential value' of the resource? These questions are simply intended to highlight the possible implications of these terms for the future operation of the patent system, as the basis for further guidance from Member States and from the CBD on issues that may be relevant for patent law, not to suggest any legal interpretation of these terms, nor to prejudge consideration of any such issue by the competent bodies under the aegis of the CBD.
- 33. Concerning relevant knowledge, various proposals and mechanisms either refer to TK as such, not necessarily linked with biological or genetic material; or they are limited to TK in some way associated with biological or genetic material or resources. Traditional knowledge is defined in the draft provisions on TK protection currently under consideration within WIPO as follows:

"For the purpose of these principles only, the term "traditional knowledge" refers to the content or substance of knowledge resulting from intellectual activity in a traditional context, and includes the know-how, skills, innovations, practices and learning that form part of traditional knowledge systems, and knowledge embodying traditional lifestyles of indigenous and local communities, or contained in codified knowledge systems passed between generations. It is not limited to any specific technical field, and may include agricultural, environmental and medicinal knowledge, and knowledge associated with genetic resources." ¹⁹

"Protection should be extended at least to that traditional knowledge which is:

(i) generated, preserved and transmitted in a traditional and intergenerational context;

WIPO/GRTKF/IC/8/5, Annex, p. 20.

- (ii) distinctively associated with a traditional or indigenous community or people which preserves and transmits it between generations; and
- (iii) integral to the cultural identity of an indigenous or traditional community or people which is recognized as holding the knowledge through a form of custodianship, guardianship, collective ownership or cultural responsibility. This relationship may be expressed formally or informally by customary or traditional practices, protocols or laws."²⁰
- 34. Some mechanisms are limited to TK that is 'associated' or otherwise linked with genetic resources. Article 8(j) of the CBD defines an important link between TK and biological diversity, when it refers to 'knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities embodying traditional lifestyles relevant for the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity.' This potentially could be taken into account when considering the scope of disclosure of TK that would be pertinent to the objectives of the CBD.

Relevance to ABS

35. The provisions of the CBD relating to ABS may be relevant in clarifying the choice of term and subject matter for disclosure requirements and related mechanisms. For instance, concerning GBMR, the third objective of the CBD (Article 1) refers to 'the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilization of genetic resources.' Detailed CBD provisions concerning ABS (such as Article 15) refer to genetic resources as such. Concerning benefit-sharing relating to TK, the CBD (Article 8(j)) provides for an obligation (subject to national legislation) to, inter alia, 'encourage the equitable sharing of the benefits arising from the utilization of such knowledge, innovations and practices.'

Relationship to Millennium Development Goals and a Development Agenda for WIPO.

36. One commentary²² points out that the "conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity, which plays a critical role in overall sustainable development and poverty eradication, has been recognized as essential in achieving these development goals. The Johannesburg Declaration acknowledged the importance of biodiversity to human well-being and the livelihood and cultural integrity of people, and stated the loss of biodiversity can only be reversed if local people benefit from the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, in particular in countries of origin of genetic resources, in accordance with Article 15 of the CBD.²³ Moreover, it called for actions at all levels to integrate the objectives of the CBD into global, regional, and national programs and policies, in particular in those of the economic sectors of countries.²⁴ The Seventh Meeting of the CBD COP also

_

WIPO/GRTKF/IC/8/5, Annex, p. 23.

²¹ 'Biological diversity' is defined in the CBD (Article 2) as "the variability among living organisms from all sources including, *inter alia*, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems."

²² Comments of CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

See Plan of Implementation of the World Summit on Sustainable Development, Chapter IV "Potecting and managing the natural resource base of economic and social development," at paragraph 44 [footnote in original]

Id. [footnote in original]

noted that achievement of the Millennium Development Goals are dependent on the effective conservation of biological diversity, the sustainable use of its components, and the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilization of genetic resources. It thus urged Parties, Governments, and relevant intergovernmental organizations, as a contribution towards the Millennium Development Goals, to implement their activities in ways that are consistent with, and do not compromise, the achievement of the objectives of the CBD. The WIPO response to the CBD request should bear in mind these instruments and adequately address the issue in light of development concerns. In this regard, discussions taking place at the Inter-sessional Intergovernmental Meeting on a Development Agenda for WIPO in April and the Joint International Seminar on Intellectual Property and Development should provide important input into the process. ²⁶"

_

See Decision VII/32 in the Report of the Seventh Meeting of the COP of the CBD, CBD document UNEP/CBD/COP/7/21 [footnote in original]

COP decision VI/24. [footnote in original]. Additional information, not in original footnote: the International Seminar on Intellectual Property and Development, organized by WIPO jointly with UNCTAD, UNIDO, WHO and the WTO, and held on May 2 and 3, 2005, included a segment on 'Biodiversity and Traditional Knowledge.' Speakers on this item included Dr. Hamdallah Zedan, Executive Secretary, CBD, Dr. Graham Dutfield, Queen Mary Intellectual Property Research Institute, University of London, and Mr. Roger Chennels, Attorney-at-Law, Stellenbosch, South Africa (see http://www.wipo.int/meetings/2005/isipd/en/).

PART II: OVERVIEW OF EXISTING PROPOSALS AND MECHANISMS

37. This initial draft examination is intended to illustrate as far as possible and be shaped by the full range of options currently considered or implemented by WIPO Member States, or put forward in regional and international policy and legislative forums, in line with the guidance received from Member States concerning the scope of this examination. This section therefore sets out, for illustrative purposes only, a range of such mechanisms and proposals. Apart from the most recent proposals (those concerning the PCT and SPLT), each of these examples was also cited in the Technical Study. This is not intended to be an exhaustive list, but does aim to reflect the full scope of proposals and mechanisms. If the revised form of this document is to retain this section and the examples provisionally included in it, it would doubtless benefit considerably from a wider range of Member State inputs, and corrections and deletions as appropriate. Translations and other citations, where provided in this section, are not necessarily official and are not intended to interpret legal provisions. The selection of national measures is intended only to be illustrative and makes use of publicly available materials.

International measures and declarations

Bonn Guidelines

- 38. Within the framework of the CBD, the Bonn Guidelines provide for 'measures to encourage the disclosure of the country of origin of the genetic resources and of the origin of traditional knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities in applications for intellectual property rights.'
- 39. The COP decision (VI/24) adopting the Bonn Guidelines also contained related material on the role of IP rights in the implementation of access and benefit-sharing arrangements (Part C), in which the COP invites Parties and Governments to encourage the disclosure of:
 - the country of origin of genetic resources in applications for intellectual property rights, where the subject matter of the application concerns or makes use of genetic resources in its development, as a possible contribution to tracking compliance with prior informed consent and the mutually agreed terms on which access to those resources was granted;
 - the origin of relevant traditional knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities relevant for the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity in applications for intellectual property rights, where the subject matter of the application concerns or makes use of such knowledge in its development.
- 40. Among the proposed elements for an international regime according to CBD COP Decision VII/19 is 'disclosure of origin/source/legal provenance of genetic resources and associated traditional knowledge in applications for intellectual property rights.'

WTO TRIPS Council

41. The Doha Ministerial declaration²⁷ instructed 'the Council for TRIPS, in pursuing its work programme including under the review of Article 27.3(b), the review of the implementation of the TRIPS Agreement under Article 71.1 and the work foreseen pursuant to paragraph 12 of this declaration, to examine, *inter alia*, the relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the [CBD], the protection of traditional knowledge and folklore, and other relevant new developments raised by members pursuant to Article 71.1.' In document IP/C/W/368 (The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the CBD: Summary of Issues Raised and Points Made), the WTO Secretariat summarized proposals made within the WTO TRIPS Council up to August 2002. Concerning disclosure requirements, it summarized the proposals as follows:

"It has ... been suggested that the TRIPS Agreement should be amended so as to require, or to enable, WTO Members to require that patent applicants disclose, as a condition to patentability: (a) the source of any genetic material used in a claimed invention; (b) any related traditional knowledge used in the invention; (c) evidence of prior informed consent from the competent authority in the country of origin of the genetic material; and (d) evidence of fair and equitable benefit sharing.³⁷ It has been suggested that such provisions could be incorporated into the TRIPS Agreement by amending Article 27.3(b)²⁸ or Article 29.²⁹"

"In response, the view has been expressed that such a provision is neither necessary nor desirable for implementing the prior informed consent and benefit-sharing provisions of the CBD. The point has been made that intellectual property rights do not aim to regulate the access and use of genetic resources, to regulate the terms and conditions for bio-prospecting or the commercialization of IPR-protected goods and services.³⁰ It has been said that this could best be done through contracts between the authorities competent for granting access to genetic resources and any related traditional knowledge and those wishing to make use of such resources and knowledge. In accordance with the CBD, countries could incorporate in their national legislation requirements for the conclusion of such contracts. It has been suggested that, to be effective, such contracts should spell out in detail the terms and conditions under which access and use is granted, including any requirements for joint research and development or for the transfer of technology that might result from the use of genetic resources and traditional knowledge to which access is to be granted. For instance, those seeking access to genetic resources for research and development could be required to share the benefits of any patents that might be granted for inventions developed from those genetic resources, including by providing access to the technology. Questions of jurisdiction of courts and conditions required to be included in contracts with third parties licensed to make use of genetic resources or traditional knowledge obtained would have to be spelled out. Criminal and/or civil remedies could be provided for in the event of a breach of obligations on either side and contracts can

WT/MIN(01)/DEC/1, adopted on 14 November 2001

²⁸ Brazil, IP/C/W/228, IP/C/M/32, para. 128, IP/C/M/33, para. 121. [footnote in original]

India, IP/C/W/195, IP/C/M/24, para. 81. [footnote in original]

EC, IP/C/W/254. [footnote in original]

be litigated in the specified jurisdiction and judgements enforced around the world under international agreements regarding the recognition of judgements.³¹"

- 42. Specific proposals and submissions to the WTO TRIPS Council have addressed this issue further, such as documents IP/C/W/356, IP/C/W/403, IP/C/W/420, IP/C/W/423, IP/C/W/429Rev.1, IP/C/W/433, IP/C/W/438, IP/C/W/434 and IP/C/W/442 which were cited in various submissions under the current process.³² Details of these documents are as follows:
- IP/C/W/356: "The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge," submission from Brazil, China, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, India, Pakistan, Peru, Thailand, Venezuela, Zambia and Zimbabwe)
- IP/C/W/400/Rev.1: "Article 27.3(b), the Relationship Between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity, and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge," submission by Switzerland
- IP/C/W/403: "The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge," submission from Bolivia, Brazil, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, India, Peru, Thailand, Venezuela
- IP/C/W/420: "The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge," submitted by Bolivia, Brazil, Cuba, Ecuador, India, Peru, Thailand and Venezuela
- IP/C/W/423: "Text of a Submission by Switzerland to the International Bureau of WIPO- Additional Comments by Switzerland on its Proposals Regarding the Declaration of the Source of Genetic Resources and Traditional Knowledge in Patent Applications"
- IP/C/W/429Rev.1: "Elements of the Obligation to Disclose the Source and Country of Origin of the Biological Resources and/or Traditional Knowledge Used in an Invention," submitted by Brazil, Bolivia, Colombia, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, India, Pakistan, Peru, Thailand, and Venezuela
- IP/C/W/433: "Further Observations by Switzerland on its Proposals Regarding the Declaration of the Source of Genetic Resources and Traditional Knowledge in Patent Applications"
- IP/C/W/438: "The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge-Elements of the Obligation to Disclose Evidence of Prior Informed Consent under the Relevant National Regime," submitted by Bolivia, Brazil, Cuba, Ecuador, India, Pakistan, Peru, Thailand and Venezuela
- IP/C/W/434: "The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge", submitted by the United States
- IP/C/W/442: "The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge - Elements of the Obligation to Disclose Evidence of Benefit-Sharing Under the Relevant National Regime" - Submission from Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, India, Peru and Thailand

For example, the submissions of Brazil, Switzerland, the United States of America and CIEL.

United States, IP/C/W/257. [footnote in original]

- IP/C/W/443: "The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and the Protection of Traditional Knowledge - Technical Observations on Issues Raised in Technical Observations on Issues Raised in a Communication by the United States (IP/C/W/434)," submitted by Brazil and India
- 43. No attempt is made here to summarize the full range of proposals and views put forward in the context of TRIPS. There are specific proposals for disclosure mechanisms. For example, IP/C/W/356 proposed that:

"the TRIPS Agreement should be amended in order to provide that [WTO] Members shall require that an applicant for a patent relating to biological materials or to traditional knowledge shall provide, as a condition to acquiring patent rights:

- (i)disclosure of the source and country of origin of the biological resource and of the traditional knowledge used in the invention;
- (ii)evidence of prior informed consent through approval of authorities under the relevant national regimes; and
- (iii)evidence of fair and equitable benefit sharing under the national regime of the country of origin."
- 44. More recently, IP/C/W/442 (which clarified that it "should ... be read together with" the earlier submissions IP/C/W/429/Rev.1 and IP/C/W/438") addressed questions such as (i) what should be the meaning of evidence of benefit-sharing under the relevant national regime; (ii) when is this evidence to be introduced by the patent applicant; (iii) what should be the obligation if there is no relevant national regime in the country of origin; and (iv) what should be the legal effect of not providing evidence of fair and equitable benefit-sharing under the relevant national regime?
- 45. Other documents among those listed above discuss substantive issues relating to patent disclosure. The Swiss submission in IP/C/W/400/Rev.1 not only presents the proposals of Switzerland regarding the declaration of the source of genetic resources and traditional knowledge in patent applications, but also contains the position of Switzerland on the proposed requirements to provide evidence of prior informed consent and of benefit sharing in patent applications. ³³

Draft Substantive Patent Law Treaty

- 46. The question of disclosure of origin of genetic resources and TK has been raised in the WIPO SCP, which is working on a draft Substantive Patent Law Treaty (SPLT).
- 47. The current text of the draft SPLT (document SCP/10/10) contains three drafting proposals that are potentially relevant to this issue. They are each supported by a number of delegations but are not agreed by all delegations, and are each subject to the annotation '[t]he SCP agreed at its eighth session to include this paragraph in square brackets, but to postpone

-

³³ Comments of Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

substantive discussions on this provision.' The drafting proposals include the following (directly relevant text only cited here):

[Article 2(2): 'Nothing in this Treaty and the Regulations shall limit the freedom of a Contracting Party to ... comply with international obligations, including those relating to the protection of genetic resources, biological diversities, traditional knowledge and the environment.]

[Articles 13 (4) and 14(3) (identical text): 'A Contracting Party may also require compliance with the applicable law on ... environment, access to genetic resources, protection of traditional knowledge...]

Discussions on genetic resources also took place in the 9th session of the SCP, when the Standing Committee considered Article 5 of the draft SPLT. Rule 4(1)(4) was also considered in this context. (Details are available in document SCP/9/8).

- 48. The United States of America, Japan and the European Patent Office submitted a joint proposal to the tenth session of the SCP, which took place between May 10 and 14, 2004, designed to limit the draft SPLT to the provisions relating to the definition of prior art, the grace period, novelty and inventive step.
- 49. This proposal obtained the support of numerous delegations, in particular those from industrialized countries. A number of delegations, however, opposed this proposal and emphasized the need to examine all the provisions of the current draft as a whole, taking into account their interdependent nature and recalling the importance they attached to other matters, such as the disclosure of the origin of genetic resources and traditional knowledge, public health, patentability criteria and the general exceptions. Nevertheless, other delegations considered that the SCP should not deal with matters relating to disclosure and the protection of genetic resources and traditional knowledge, at least until the Intergovernmental Committee on Intellectual Property, Genetic Resources, Traditional Knowledge and Folklore (IGC), as the Committee competent to deal with such matters, had completed its consideration of the issues in question. Certain delegations did not share this point of view and considered that the SCP was the appropriate forum to consider such matters.
- 50. In view of the diversity of opinions expressed, the SCP at its 10th session was unable to reach a consensus on whether it should give priority to a first set of provisions or on whether it should examine the draft SPLT as a whole. The Committee furthermore failed to reach agreement on the suggestion put forward by the Chair of the session that the question of the SCP's future work be submitted to the WIPO General Assembly.
- 51. Following these developments, the United States of America and Japan submitted a proposal to the Director General of WIPO with the request that it be added to the agenda for the WIPO General Assembly's 40th series of meetings in September-October 2004. This proposal corresponded, in essence, to the one they had already submitted, together with the European Patent Office, to the tenth session of the SCP. After a lengthy discussion among Member States, during which the positions and concerns expressed were similar to those that had been voiced at the 10th session of the SCP, the WIPO General Assembly adopted the following statement:
 - "(i) The General Assembly considered the proposal submitted by the Delegations of Japan and the United States of America (document WO/GA/31/10). No consensus has been reached thereon.

"(ii) It was decided that the dates of the next Standing Committee on the Law of Patents (SCP) should be determined by the Director General following informal consultations that he may undertake."

Patent Cooperation Treaty

Proposal by Switzerland to amend the PCT Regulations

- 52. Switzerland has submitted a proposal³⁴ to the Working Group on Reform of the PCT to amend the Regulations under the PCT to explicitly enable Contracting Parties to require patent applicants to declare the source of genetic resources and traditional knowledge, if an invention is directly based on such resources or knowledge. More specifically, Switzerland proposes to amend the Regulations to explicitly enable Contracting Parties to require patent applicants, upon or after entry of the international application into the national phase of the PCT procedure, to declare the source of genetic resources and/or traditional knowledge, if an invention is directly based on such resource or knowledge. Furthermore, Switzerland proposes to afford applicants the possibility of satisfying this requirement at the time of filing an international patent application or later during theinternational phase. In case an international patent application does not contain the required declaration, national law may foresee that in the national phase the application is not processed any further until the patent applicant has furnished the required declaration.
- 53. By reference, the proposed amendment to the PCT would also apply to the PLT. Accordingly, the Contracting Parties of the PLT would be able to require in their national patent laws that patent applicants declare the source of genetic resources and/or traditional knowledge in national patent applications. Based on the PLT, national law may foresee that the validity of granted patents is affected by a lacking or incorrect declaration of the source, if this is due to fraudulent intention.
- 54. The specific proposals are as follows:
 - introduction of a new paragraph (g) in Rule 51bis.1 of the PCT Regulations so as to enable the Contracting Parties of the PCT to require patent applicants, upon or after entry of the international application into the national phase of the PCT procedure, to declare the source of genetic resources and/or traditional knowledge; such new paragraph could read as follows:
 - "(g) Subject to Rule 51bis.2, the national law applicable by the designated Office may, in accordance with Article 27, require the applicant to furnish:
 - (i) a declaration as to the source of a specific genetic resource to which the inventor has had access, if the invention is directly based on such a resource;
 - (ii) a declaration as to the source of traditional knowledge related to genetic resources, if the inventor knows that the invention is directly based on such knowledge;

See PCT/R/WG/4/13 and, with identical contents, PCT/R/WG/5/11 Rev; PCT/R/WG/6/11; and PCT/R/WG/7/7.

- (iii) a declaration that the source referred to in (i) or (ii) is unknown to the inventor or applicant, if this is the case."³⁵
- a complementary change with the introduction of a new item (vi) in Rule 4.17 of the PCT Regulations so as to afford applicants the possibility of satisfying any disclosure requirements under the national laws of designated States already at the time of filing an international patent application or later during the international phase, as follows:

["The request may, for the purposes of the national law applicable in one or more designated States, contain one or more of the following declarations, worded as prescribed by the Administrative Instructions:]

- "(vi) a declaration as to the source of a specific genetic resource and/or traditional knowledge related to genetic resources, as referred to in Rule 51bis.1(g)."³⁶
- several other amendments to the PCT-Regulations, namely, a proposal to amend Rule 48 so as to ensure that a declaration is published together with the international application; a proposal to amend Rule 51bis.2 so as to limit the circumstances in which designated States are entitled to require documents or evidence from applicants in the national phase in relation to declarations contained in the international application; and a proposal to amend Rule 5bis .3 so as to require designated Offices to invite applicants to comply with the respective requirements of the national laws concerning declarations where those requirements have not already been fulfilled by the time of entry of the application into the national phase.

Additionally, Switzerland invited WIPO, in close collaboration with the CBD, to consider the establishment of a list of government agencies competent to receive information on the declaration of the source in patent applications. According to this proposal, the office receiving a patent application containing a declaration of the source of a genetic resource or the associated traditional knowledge would inform the competent government agency of the State declared as the source about the respective declaration. Particularly well suited for this task would seem to be the national focal point for access and benefit sharing as described in para. 13 of the Bonn Guidelines. This list of competent government agencies could be made

The Swiss proposal explains that this proposal would give patent applicants the possibility of satisfying the declaration requirement under national patent law in accordance with the proposed new Rule 51bis.1(g) at the time of filing an international patent application or later during the international phase. This would further simplify procedures related to the declaration of the source of genetic resources and/or knowledge, innovations and practices, with regard to international patent applications. The standard wording in the Administrative Instructions for such a declaration would have to be amended accordingly.

The Swiss proposal explains that Rule 51bis.1(g) would only apply if the national law of a Contracting Party of the PCT requires patent applicants submitting an international patent application to declare the source of genetic resources and/or knowledge, innovations and practices, in their patent applications. It is thus the national legislator who decides whether such a declaration is required or not. In case an application does not contain the required declaration, the national law may foresee that the application is not processed any further until the patent applicant has furnished the required declaration; the national law may also foresee that non-declaration will not affect the processing of patents.

accessible through WIPO and the Clearing House Mechanism (CHM) of the CBD. States interested in receiving such information could indicate to WIPO the competent government agency, which would then be included in the proposed list.³⁷

Regional measures

The Andean Community

55. Andean Community Decision 486 (Common Intellectual Property Regime), provides that applications for patents shall contain, inter alia, "a copy of the contract for access, if the products or processes for which a patent application is being filed were obtained or developed from genetic resources or byproducts originating in one of the Member Countries" and "if applicable, a copy of the document that certifies the license or authorization to use the traditional knowledge of indigenous, African American, or local communities in the Member Countries where the products or processes whose protection is being requested was obtained or developed on the basis of the knowledge originating in any one of the Member Countries, pursuant to the provisions of Decision 391 and its effective amendments and regulations" (Article 26).

European Community

- 56. Recital 27 in the preamble of the Directive 98/44/EC on the Legal Protection of Biotechnological Inventions states that: "whereas if an invention is based on biological material of plant or animal origin or if it uses such material, the patent application should, where appropriate, include information on the geographical origin of such material, if known; whereas this is without prejudice to the processing of patent applications or the validity of rights arising from granted patents."
- 57. The European Community and its Member States have also submitted a specific proposal in relation to the current process, which is described as an 'attempt to formulate a way forward that should ensure, at global level, an effective, balanced and realistic system for disclosure in patent applications.' This proposal is summarized as follows:
- (a) a mandatory requirement should be introduced to disclose the country of origin or source of genetic resources in patent applications;
- (b) the requirement should apply to all international, regional and national patent applications at the earliest stage possible;
- (c) the applicant should declare the country of origin or, if unknown, the source of the specific genetic resource to which the inventor has had physical access and which is still known to him;
 - (d) the invention must be directly based on the specific genetic resources;
- (e) there could also be a requirement on the applicant to declare the specific source of traditional knowledge associated with genetic resources, if he is aware that the invention is directly based on such traditional knowledge; in this context, a further in-depth discussion of the concept of "traditional knowledge" is necessary;
- (f) if the patent applicant fails or refuses to declare the required information, and despite being given the opportunity to remedy that omission continues to do so, then the application should not be further processed;

³⁷ Comments of Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

- (g) if the information provided is incorrect or incomplete, effective, proportionate and dissuasive sanctions should be envisaged outside the field of patent law;
- (h) a simple notification procedure should be introduced to be followed by the patent offices every time they receive a declaration; it would be adequate to identify in particular the Clearing House Mechanism of the CBD as the central body to which the patent offices should send the available information.

National proposals and measures

Costa Rica

58. The Biodiversity Law of Costa Rica (in an unofficial translation) provides in Article 78 that the State "shall grant the protection indicated in the previous article, among other ways, by means of patents, trade secrets, plant breeders' rights, sui generis community intellectual rights, copyrights and farmers' rights. These rights shall not apply to: ... Inventions essentially derived from knowledge which is associated with traditional or cultural biological practices in the public domain..." In Article 80, it provides that "the National Seed Office and the Registers of Intellectual and Industrial Property are obliged to consult with the Technical Office of the Commission before granting protection of intellectual or industrial property to innovations involving components of biodiversity. They must always provide the certificate of origin issued by the Technical Office of the Commission and prior informed consent. Justified opposition from the Technical Office will prohibit registration of a patent or protection of the innovation."

Egypt

59. The Patent Act of Egypt (Article 13) provides, *inter alia*, that "[w]here the invention involves biological, plant or animal product, or traditional medicinal, agricultural, industrial or handicraft knowledge, cultural or environmental heritage, the inventor should have acquired the sources in a legitimate manner."

India

- 60. India's Biological Diversity Act 2002 provides that (article 6(1)) "[n]o person shall apply for any intellectual property right by whatever name called in or outside India for any invention based on any research or information on a biological resource obtained from India without obtaining the previous approval of the National Biodiversity Authority before making such application ... provided that if a person applies for a patent, permission of the National Biodiversity Authority may be obtained after the acceptance of the patent but before the sealing of the patent by the patent authority concerned [and] provided further that the National Biodiversity Authority shall dispose of the application for permission made to it within a period of ninety days from the date of receipt thereof." It also provides (article 6(2))that the 'National Biodiversity Authority may, while granting the approval under this section, impose benefit sharing fee or royalty or both or impose conditions including the sharing of financial benefits arising out of the commercial utilisation of such rights.'
- 61. The Patents (Amendment) Act of 2002 amended the Patents Act, 1970, to provide that, in certain defined circumstances (see s. 10(4)(d)(ii)), a patent application should be completed by fulfilling the condition that it 'disclose the source and geographical origin of the biological material in the specification, when used in the invention.' (s. 10(4)(d)(ii)(D))

United States

- 62. The U.S. National Parks Omnibus Management Act of 1998 expressly authorizes "negotiations with the research community and private industry for equitable, efficient benefit-sharing arrangements" in connection with research conducted in national parks. The Act also mandates increased scientific research in the national parks and the use of science in park management decisions. The law encourages the national parks to be places for scientific study by public as well as private sector researchers, and mandates long-term inventory and monitoring programs that provide baseline information, and document trends relating to the condition of park resources. The law does so by requiring permits to collect samples in the national parks. In order to obtain a permit, parties seeking access must first negotiate a cooperative research and development agreement (CRADA) with the park system.
- 63. As an example, a CRADA was entered into between a company named Diversa and Yellowstone National Park in 1999. Under the CRADA, Diversa was allowed to take DNA samples from wolves in Yellowstone. In exchange, Diversa developed the first DNA pedigree for the endangered Yellowstone wolves at no charge to the U.S. government. This pedigree, which the Yellowstone National Park could not have afforded to pay for, helps in understanding the dynamics of the wolf population, assessing the genetic health of the park's wolf population, identifying wolves that are killed illegally, detecting when wolves from other areas immigrate to Greater Yellowstone, and documenting breeding in the wild. This knowledge is used by Yellowstone staff in carrying out their charge to conserve the wildlife in the park for the enjoyment of future generations.

Further national measures

- The Patent Act of Norway provides (Section 8 b): "If an invention concerns or uses biological material, the patent application shall include information on the country from which the inventor collected or received the material (the providing country). If it follows from the national law in the providing country that access to biological material shall be subject to prior consent, the application shall state whether such consent has been obtained. If the providing country is not the same as the country of origin of the biological material, the application shall also state the country of origin. The country of origin means the country from which the material was collected from its natural environment. If the national law in the country of origin requires that access to biological material shall be subject to prior consent, the application shall state whether such consent has been obtained. If the information set out in this subsection is not known, the applicant shall state that. The duty to disclose information under the first and second paragraphs applies even where the inventor has altered the structure of the received material. The duty to disclose information does not apply to biological material derived from the human body. Breach of the duty to disclose information is subject to penalty in accordance with the General Civil Penal Code § 166. The duty to disclose information is without prejudice to the processing of patent applications or the validity of rights arising from granted patents."38
- 65. Other comments have highlighted other national measures or proposals. Commentary on draft legislative proposal for a disclosure requirement on Swiss patent law is contained in a submission by the Berne Declaration to the IGC.³⁹ Other commentary drew attention to other

Text available at http://www.patentstyret.no/templates/Page____699.aspx#2

http://www.wipo.int/tk/en/igc/ngo/meienberg2.pdf

national measures. For instance, concerning Brazil, CIEL draws attention to a paper by Professor Correa noting that "that the grant of industrial property rights by the competent bodies for a process or product obtained using samples of components of the genetic heritage is contingent on the observance of a Provisional Measure obliging the applicant to specify the origin of the generic material and the associated traditional knowledge, as the case may be."

Various mechanisms within existing patent law

- 66. The WIPO Technical Study outlined a large number of applicable mechanisms within existing patent law that are relevant to the current examination. Further details of these were provided in WIPO Member States' responses to questionnaire WIPO/GRTKF/IC/Q.3, which formed the basis of the Technical Study. For the sake of brevity, they are not repeated here, but can be briefly summarized as follows:
 - requirements to disclose known TK when it is relevant prior art (i.e. relevant to the assessment of the invention's novelty and inventiveness);
 - requirements to disclose a TK holder who may be considered the or an inventor;
 - requirement to disclose source or origin of GBMR when access to the GBMR is required for to enable the carrying out of the invention;
 - disclosure of GBMR per se (or microorganisms in particular) when this is relevant to disclosure of the invention (including deposit of actual microorganisms or other biological materials for the purposes of patent procedure, in line with the Budapest Treaty);
 - the effect of obligations under access and benefit-sharing laws or agreements on the entitlement to apply for, be granted or to maintain ownership of a patent (for instance, the Bonn Guidelines indicate that one issue to be considered in concluding ABS material transfer agreements is 'whether intellectual property rights may be sought and if so under what conditions');
 - obligations to disclose relevant TK or GBMR in a patent application when disclosure of this information is required under other legal obligations, arising under contracts or access regulation.

Document WIPO/GRTKF/IC/2/15 ("Patents Using Biological Sources Material and Mention of the Country of Origin in Patents Using Biological Source Material, submitted by the Delegation of Spain) contains a number of examples.

_

Comments of CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1, referring to www.geneva.quno.info/pdf/Disclosure%20OP%2012.pdf

PART III: TECHNICAL AND LEGAL BACKGROUND

- 67. The CBD Ad Hoc Open-ended Working Group on Access and Benefit-sharing has noted that "there is a need for accurate technical intellectual property information and explanation concerning methods for requiring the disclosure within patent applications of, inter alia: (a) Genetic resources utilized in the development of the claimed inventions; (b) The country of origin of genetic resources utilized in the claimed inventions; (c) Associated traditional knowledge, innovations and practices utilized in the development of the claimed inventions; (d) The source of associated traditional knowledge, innovations and practices; and (e) Evidence of prior informed consent," and accordingly recommended the development of the WIPO Technical Study. A recent UNU-IAS study on the issue commented that "even though there is a growing body of law and policy which establishes either mandatory or voluntary requirements to disclose the origin of genetic resources and traditional knowledge in patent applications, there still remains significant and wide spread uncertainty as to even the legality of such measures, to say nothing about their effectiveness." ⁴²
- On the legal and policy context, one commentator remarks that "the examination of the different issues raised by disclosure requirements should begin with the acknowledgement that the need and value of disclosure requirements for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity have already been identified by the CBD. The First Meeting of the Panel of Experts on Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit-sharing, convened by the COP in 1999, stated, for instance, that a system in which intellectual property applications required evidence of PIC would create an incentive for users to ensure the traceability of genetic resources and to support compliance with PIC and fair and equitable benefit sharing. 43 The Ad Hoc Open-ended Working Group on Access and Benefit-sharing recognized that disclosure of the use of genetic resources and traditional knowledge in applications for intellectual property rights may assist patent examiners in the identification of prior art and noted that disclosure of origin and evidence of PIC requirements already exist in a number of countries as a precondition for the granting of patents. 44 Moreover, the Sixth Meeting of the COP in 2002 invited Parties and Governments to encourage the disclosure of the country of origin of the genetic resources and traditional knowledge in applications for intellectual property rights, where the subject matter of the applications concerns or makes use of genetic resources or such knowledge in its development, as a possible contribution to tracking compliance with PIC and the mutually agreed terms on which access to those resources and knowledge was granted."45
- 69. In the light of these comments, this section provides a technical-level discussion of some of the core concepts that arise in this examination, to provide background to the

UNU Study, note 6 above, 27-28; see also the observations of CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1 concerning this commentary.

See Report of the Sixth Meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the CBD, CBD document UNEP/CBD/COP/6/20, at 274 [footnote in original].

⁴¹ UNEP/CBD/COP/6/6, p. 35.

See Report of the First Meeting of the Panel of Experts on Access and Benefit-sharing, CBD document UNEP/CBD/COP/5/8, at paragraph 127 [footnote in original].

See Recommendations adopted by the First Meeting Ad Hoc Open-ended Working Group on Access and Benefit-sharing, CBD document UNEP/CBD/COP/6/6, at Annex [footnote in original].

following specific surveys. This is not new material. It distils the contents of the Technical Study which was earlier provided to the CBD COP. It then cites a checklist that was submitted by a group of WTO Members in 2004 to the TRIPS Council containing issues that these Members propose to be considered by that Council and that may be considered relevant to the present examination. Various comments and observations addressed issues as to the 'legality' of various proposals and measures in relation to international legal obligations; beyond reporting such comments as they were received, this draft examination is not intended to present or promote any particular view as to legality or otherwise.

- 70. Proposals for enhanced disclosure relating to GBMR or TK seek to bridge between two legal regimes and policy systems:
 - Regulation of the access to, use of, and sharing of benefits from GBMR and TK; and
 - Laws governing the grant of patent rights for eligible inventions.
- 71. Proposals for enhanced disclosure relating to GBMR and TK range over the interface between these two legal regimes in various ways, including clarifying or modifying existing patent law, extending the reach of patent law doctrines, creating new doctrines in patent law, and applying and harnessing patent processing as a means of indirectly enforcing regulations on access and benefit-sharing. The debate is often expressed in terms of 'disclosure requirements' relating to the claimed invention and the creation of new disclosure requirements as a condition of 'patentability'.
- 72. The range of patent law potentially involved extends beyond well beyond requirements to disclose information, and covers legal issues beyond the patentability of an invention as such. So as not to prejudge the scope of consideration of the issues, this draft examination goes beyond requirements to disclose information as such, and encompasses other related measures that have been identified in the debate as being relevant to ABS. Analyzing disclosure requirements can lead to such underlying questions as:
 - who is the true inventor of a claimed invention, when the invention uses TK directly or substantially?
 - what external circumstances affect the entitlement of the applicant to apply for and to be granted a patent, especially the circumstances that surround the obtaining and use of inputs to the invention, and any broader obligations that arise?
 - is the claimed invention truly new and inventive (non-obvious), having regard to already known TK and GBMR?
 - has the applicant disclosed all known background knowledge (including TK) that is relevant to the claim that the invention is patentable?
 - apart from the applicant, are there other interests that should be recognized: ownership interests (e.g. arising from benefit-sharing obligations), licensing or security interests, or interests arising from a TK holder's role in an invention?
 - how can the patent system be used to monitor and sanction compliance with laws governing access to GBMR and compliance with the terms of laws or regulations governing ABS, mutually agreed terms, permits, licenses or other contractual obligations, especially when these obligations arise under foreign jurisdictions?

⁴⁶ Comments by Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1

- is the patent law the appropriate vehicle for ABS?⁴⁷
- what impact would a new disclosure requirement have on innovation?
- will the pursuit of ABS through the patent system cause greater harm than benefit?
- how would a new disclosure requirement transfer benefits?
- have any of the disclosure requirements that have been implemented promoted ABS in an effective manner?
- how have new disclosure requirements affected rates of innovation in those countries?

Disclosure under patent law

Disclosure is part of the core rationale of patent law. Unless an invention is fully disclosed, a patent on that invention is invalid. Patent law concerns more than whether a given invention is patentable or not, even though this determination is the prime task of a patent examiner. To receive and sustain a valid patent, applicants may be required to disclose the claimed invention itself, how to carry it out (including the best known mode), any known technology ('prior art') relevant to assessing whether the claimed invention is patentable, the identity of the true inventor, and the legal basis for entitlement to be granted a patent. Each of these may be relevant to disclosing relevant GBMR or TK, but their effect is likely to vary in different jurisdictions. The full operational context of the patent system ranges beyond the standard distinction between 'substantive' or 'formality' requirements, and beyond the technical patentability of an invention as such; given that the focus is on the broader context of the inventive process and the actions of the inventor, it may be relevant to consider the broader law of patent ownership, the applicant's entitlement to apply for and be granted a patent, and the recognition of security and other interests in a patent. Commentators have also referred to broader principles of equitable behaviour and their relationship with patent law. In this context, CIEL refers to "the integral relationship between equitable principles and intellectual property laws," suggesting that this "require an effective system of mandatory international recognition and enforcement of national disclosure requirements to prevent misuse of the intellectual property system. These equitable issues have been indirectly raised by a number of developing countries and accredited observers and need to be explicitly recognized and incorporated into policy discussions and implementation options in order for the intellectual property system to further sustainable development goals, as well as to protect its function as a tool of public policy and its legitimacy."48

Patentability of invention and entitlement to apply for and be granted a patent

74. 'Patentability' concerns characteristics of the invention as such. As observed above, other substantive legal requirements for receiving and maintaining a valid patent may be relevant to disclosure and compliance with access and benefit-sharing – in particular, the law that governs the entitlement to apply for and be granted a patent. In view of the range of submissions, proposals and existing measures in place, there may be no one single 'disclosure' scenario that captures all the existing concerns about GBMR and TK relevant to patented inventions, nor all the current proposals for enhanced forms of disclosure that feature

This and the following questions were included in the comments of the United States of America on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

⁴⁸ Comments of CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

in the current debate. One way of clarifying and ordering disclosure scenarios is to consider what relationship would need to exist between the claimed invention and certain GBMR/TK to trigger a specific requirement to disclose relevant information. For instance, the nature and reach of disclosure may be very different depending on whether the GBMR/TK was incidental or fundamental to the development of the invention; whether the GBMR/TK contributed to one earlier step to a chain of innovations that over time culminated in the invention, or was a direct input to the claimed inventive step; whether particular qualities of a GBMR were essential to the invention, or the GBMR was in effect only a vehicle for a separate innovative concept; or whether a GBMR was used in a particular embodiment or one example in the description of the invention, but was not indispensable to arriving at (or replicating) the invention as claimed.

Use of existing patent law and disclosure of GBMR/TK

- 75. Established patent law requirements have been used to require disclosure of GBMR/TK:
 - Where access to the GBMR is required to enable a person skilled in the art to carry out the invention (or to carry out the best known mode where applicable), and the GBMR is not readily available to that person (for instance, as a plant variety well known to researchers in the field); the patent applicant may be obliged to disclose its source so that third parties can carry out the invention.
 - Where the GBMR is already readily available to third parties already skilled in the relevant art, then the disclosure requirements may still require that the GBMR be fully described.
 - Where the TK is an inventive contribution to the invention as claimed, then the
 applicant may be required to disclose the provider of the TK as a joint or sole
 inventor.
 - Where the TK (known to the applicant) is so close to the claimed invention that it has bearing on the assessment of the validity of the application (e.g. in assessing whether the invention is truly novel and nonobvious), or so that it is necessary for the understanding of the inventive concept, then some patent laws will already require its disclosure.
- Such conventional disclosure requirements may not apply if the TK is more remote from the claimed inventive concept (for example, if the TK is in the background but not relevant in assessing whether the invention is new, inventive or useful), or if a GBMR does not in itself give rise to an inventive concept – such as when an inventive genetic modification is introduced into a specific variety of wheat (in effect, a relevant GBMR), but the claimed invention extends to any variety of wheat). In some of these cases, the enquiry seems to be more about the legal relationship between the inventor and the access to GBMR or TK, rather than about the link between the invention as such and GBMR or TK. The concern may be that prior informed consent was not obtained when GBMR or TK were accessed, yet this access led in time to the claimed invention. For example, prior informed consent may include a contractual obligation to share ownership of any IP rights resulting from the access (similarly to agreements concerning other non-inventive contributions to a research process, such as financial backing or provision of other resources); in this case, the core legal questions may concern ownership of the patent and compliance with contractual obligations, rather than validity of the invention. In other cases, prior informed consent has entailed contractual agreement for the source of GBMR to be acknowledged in the patent. The diversity of prior informed consent arrangements may also include licensing and security interests, which may be recorded in various ways under patent laws.

77. Entitlement to apply for a patent, inventorship, rights to ownership, obligations arising from non-inventive contributions, enforcement of contractual obligations, and the formal recognition of ownership, licensing and security interests, are all legally significant issues in acquiring, holding and enforcing patent rights – and thus may play a role in access and benefit-sharing. They are typically considered distinctly from the patentability of the invention as such (a narrower concept, as contrasted with the validity of a patent on that invention, and the entitlement to own and exercise the patent right).

Disclosure as such or a bar on entitlement to a patent?

- 78. There is a fundamental issue of whether a legal requirement relating to GBMR or TK would concern disclosure as such, or whether it would actually function as an effective prohibition on securing a patent if certain preconditions are not met. For instance, if there is a requirement to file evidence of prior informed consent of GBMR/TK holders, this may simply be to provide information about the circumstances in which the GBMR/TK was obtained in the interests of transparency, or it may be a means of implementing an obligation to obtain prior informed consent before a patent application may be filed or a patent is validly granted. Consideration of disclosure requirements has also focused on whether disclosure is considered a 'substantive' requirement in patent law or as a 'formality,' and what sanctions should apply if the disclosure requirement is not met.
- 79. The Technical Study reviewed these issues with a view to clarifying the context and impact of disclosure requirements. The focus has been on whether failure to meet disclosure requirements would or should lead to refusal or invalidation of a patent, but other experiences indicate that failure to make true declarations can have serious implications, whether or not the patent is invalidated on substantive patentability grounds. For example, different jurisdictions provide for severe consequences in the event of failure to declare the true inventor (or to include a co-inventor), failure to disclose known prior art, or failure to establish an entitlement derived from the inventor. Failure to comply with some formality requirements, such as payment of maintenance fees or good faith errors in naming inventors, can be remedied once the failure is identified.
- 80. The Technical Study also noted that questions of how to deal appropriately and fairly with unintentional errors and omissions need to be considered in any disclosure requirement. The study noted that disclosure scenarios many raise questions of what circumstances create an obligation, and what steps are considered sufficient to discharge the obligation. The complex pattern of inputs into a research program over time that may in turn yield a series of interrelated inventions may create a degree of uncertainty as to what is required for disclosure in any particular patent application, and on what basis. These questions are illustrated by two scenarios:
 - where there are diffuse or diverse inputs leading to the invention (for instance, when an invention draws on an extensive plant breeding program based on successive generations of breeding lines from numerous sources): which inputs, and how many, should be identified and reported; and,
 - an extended chain of provenance (such as when an invention may draw on a novel use of an active compound that had been separately, earlier isolated from a biological sample): how far back along the chain of provenance from the precise inventive step should the disclosure requirement reach?

- 81. The study set out a structured approach to reviewing the range of possible disclosure requirements, based on the following questions:
 - (i)What would be the relationship between the claimed invention and the GBMR/TK; or what would be a sufficient link between the two to trigger a disclosure requirement?
 - (ii) What legal principle would form the basis of the requirement?
 - (iii) What would be the nature of the obligation placed on the applicant?
 - (iv)What would be the consequence of failure to comply with the requirement?
 - (v)How would the requirement be implemented, verified or monitored?
 - (i)Trigger for the disclosure requirement
- 82. Three broad functions have been considered for disclosure methods relating to GBMR/TK:
- (a) to disclose any GBMR/TK actually used in the course of developing the invention (a descriptive, enabling or transparency function, pertaining to the GBMR/TK itself and its relationship with the invention); in the case of biological resources, this may extend to actual deposit of samples as part of the essential patent disclosure obligation;
- (b) to disclose the actual source or origin of the GBMR/TK (a disclosure of provenance function, relating to where the GBMR/TK was obtained, geographically and in what jurisdiction) this may concern the country of origin (to clarify under which jurisdiction the source material was obtained), or a more specific location (for instance, to ensure that genetic resources can be accessed, so as to ensure the invention can be duplicated or reproduced, or so they can be traced to a specific community or custodian); and,
- (c) to provide an undertaking or evidence of prior informed consent and/or of equitable benefit-sharing (a compliance function, relating to the legitimacy of the acts of access to GBMR/TK source material and demonstration of the legitimacy of legal provenance) this may entail showing that GBMR/TK used in the invention was obtained and used in compliance with applicable laws in the country of origin or in compliance with the terms of any specific agreement recording prior informed consent; that lawful arrangements have been established for equitable benefit-sharing; or that the act of applying for a patent was in itself undertaken in accordance with prior informed consent.
- 83. Possible linkages that may trigger disclosure requirements include:
 - access to GBMR is necessary to carry out or replicate the invention as claimed;
 - access to GBMR is necessary to implement the preferred embodiment of the invention or other example given in the description of the patent;
 - the TK is prior art, known to the applicant, which is relevant to the assessment of whether the invention as claimed is novel and not obvious;
 - TK was provided by a TK holder and is directly used in developing the invention, to the extent that the TK holder is a potential co-inventor;
 - the GBMR or TK were used in the course of research that led to the invention, and were essential to deriving the invention;
 - the GBMR or TK were used in the course of research leading to the invention, but were only incidental to the attainment of the invention;

- the research leading to the invention, the attainment of the invention itself, or the
 act of filing the patent application, falls within the scope of an obligation incurred
 under an access agreement or access legislation.
- (ii) The legal principle forming the basis of the requirement
- 84. A disclosure requirement may be derived from existing patent law, or may be based in other legal systems. In the first category, the possibilities include:
- (a) The obligation to disclose the invention sufficiently for it to be carried out by a person skilled in the art, and where appropriate to disclose the best mode for carrying out the invention known to the inventor;
- (b) The requirement that patent claims be supported sufficiently by the technical disclosure in the patent;
- (c) The requirement to provide information concerning known prior art relevant to the assessment of the patent claims;
 - (d) The requirement to establish entitlement to apply for or be granted a patent;
 - (e) Requirements concerning the registration of licenses and security interests; and
- (f) A requirement derived from the interaction between patent law and principles of *ordre public* and morality.
- 85. Non-patent law principles underpinning a disclosure obligation could be drawn from laws concerning access to GBMR/TK, and related benefit-sharing obligations, including:
 - (a) international standards, notably the CBD and the FAO ITPGR;
- (b) applicable national laws in the country of origin, the country of research/invention, or the country where the patent application is lodged, especially concerning access to and use of GBMR and related TK and laws giving domestic legal effect to the CBD; and
- (c) contract law may provide the legal basis, in its own right or when contracts or licenses are used as a legal mechanism for implementing access and benefit-sharing regulations.
- (iii) The nature of the obligation placed on the applicant
- 86. The obligation placed on the applicant can range from an exhortation or encouragement to a potential ground of refusal or revocation of a patent. Disclosure requirements concerning GBMR/TK have formal or procedural aspects (such as format and documentation requirements, and deadlines for compliance), as well as meeting substantive tests (for instance, in disclosing enough about genetic resources used in the invention to ensure a skilled person can replicate the invention). Therefore a disclosure requirement may be analyzed as having both aspects, and both may be significant.
- 87. While the impact of a disclosure obligation may best be determined with reference to the consequences of failure to comply, it is equally important to clarify what it means to comply: for instance, should the applicant go beyond information that is readily available, and should the applicant actively trace the origins of GBMR/TK and investigate the circumstances of its acquisition. The intent of the applicant may also be considered: was a failure to provide relevant information in good faith, or fraudulent in intent? And where should the burden of proof lie: is the applicant is obliged positively to prove that access to GBMR/TK met a certain standard, or can legitimacy of access be assumed in absence of evidence to the contrary?

- (iv) The consequences of failure to comply
- 88. Since disclosure requirements generally have both formal and substantive aspects, the consequences of failure to comply with either aspect may differ. Failure to comply in formal terms may not necessarily have serious consequences, provided it is not fraudulent and is remedied in a timely manner. Failure to comply in substantive terms (such as requirement to disclose sufficient material to sustain patent claims) may have major consequences for the fate of a patent application or granted patent. The consequences of failure to comply with a particular disclosure obligation may, in principle, flow from the reason for the imposition of the requirement. A failure to disclose genetic resources necessary to carry out the invention may lead to the refusal, narrowing or invalidation of claims that would depend for their legitimacy on that disclosure. A failure to provide adequate information to substantiate entitlement to apply for or be granted a patent may lead to the loss of the patent.
- Certain disclosure requirements are not derived from substantive requirements relating to patentability of the invention as such, but relate more to broader questions of the entitlement of the applicant to receive a patent, to maintain ownership of a patent, or to exercise a patent right. In this regard, some proposals and commentary relate to a linkage between the manner of access of genetic resources, and the equitable basis of a patent on an invention derived from that access. Some disclosure requirements may therefore be linked to distinct legal mechanisms, including in foreign jurisdictions, such as when a requirement extends to submitting information or documentation about compliance with access and benefit-sharing and may be aimed at monitoring or enforcement of regulations or specific contracts. One way of characterizing the relationship may be to draw a link between inequitable behavior in one context or jurisdiction, and entitlement to exercise patent rights in another, where the patented invention is in some way a consequence of the inequitable behavior. Another way of defining the link would be to view the denial or invalidation of a patent right in one jurisdiction as a form of sanction for non-compliance with other laws, and linking this non-compliance to the entitlement to receive or hold a patent. International policy debate may clarify the relationship between the legal basis for obtaining and holding a patent in one country, and compliance with access and benefit-sharing in another country (that is, the source of genetic resources and associated TK).
- 90. In this context, Brazil explains⁴⁹ that "disclosure proposals do not constitute an attempt to use the patent system to enforce non-patent legal requirements or for the pursuit of objectives of distinct legal mechanisms. Rather, the objectives of the disclosure proposal, as formulated by Brazil and other developing countries, are quite germane to the patent system, as they essentially seek to ensure that the international patent system operates in a more equitable and balanced manner. A basic concern of most proponents of disclosure requirements is to ensure that the patent system does not reward inequitable behavior, and, in particular, does not reward patent applicants for violating the laws of the countries of origin of genetic resources utilized in developing the invention. The disclosure requirement, as proposed by Brazil and other developing countries, would, in effect, be fully in line with existing principles and objectives of the existing patent system, such as those enshrined in Articles 7, 8, 27.2 and 27.3 of the TRIPS Agreement. Simply put, Brazil and other countries proposing disclosure of origin/PIC/benefit sharing requirements believe that the patent system, in order to retain its credibility and robustness, should not reward this kind of

Comments of Brazil on paragraph 74 of document WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

inequitable behavior." Brazil indicates that "other countries ... have yet to provide a straightforward answer to this basic and simple question."

General issues

- 91. The essence of the patent system is transparency and disclosure (the concept of laying open for public inspection is the source of the English word 'patent'). Patent law has developed a set of exacting standards for information disclosure which have deep policy and legal foundations within the patent system. The grant of a patent, and the effective exercise of patent rights, are founded on the principle of sufficient disclosure. The very operation of the patent system involves making publicly available a great detail of legal, administrative and technological information, in a harmonized and accessible format. Some patent applications do, as a matter of existing practice, disclose significant information concerning GBMR and TK. Disclosures even in existing patent applications are currently used by concerned parties to monitor the use (and potential misappropriation) of GBMR or TK. This monitoring function of the international patent system has been enhanced by the increasing searchability and availability on-line of patent information.
- 92. The Technical Study suggests an underlying, key issue is how to characterize the necessary relationship between GBMR and TK on the one hand, and the claimed invention on the other. Discussion of possible disclosure requirements has already covered many ways of expressing this linkage. Better characterizing this linkage should also clarify the range and duration of obligations that may attach to such resources and knowledge, within the source country and in foreign jurisdictions, and how far these obligations 'reach through' subsequent inventive activities and ensuing patent applications. General patent law principles provide more specific ways of expressing this relationship, even if the objective of the requirement is not conceived in traditional patent terms. Patent law may also be drawn on to clarify or implement more generally stated disclosure requirements: for example, a general requirement to disclose genetic resources used in the invention may be difficult to define in practice, and may implemented through a more precise test that requires disclosure only when access to the resources would be necessary to reproduce the invention.
- 93. Another key issue is the legal basis of the disclosure requirement in question, and its relationship with the processing of patent applications, the grant of patents and the exercise of patent rights. This raises also the legal and practical interaction of the disclosure requirement with other areas of law beyond the patent system, including the law of other jurisdictions.
- 94. Some of the legal and policy questions identified in the Technical Study were:
- (a) the potential role of the patent system in one country in monitoring and giving effect to contracts, licenses, and regulations in other areas of law and in other jurisdictions, and the resolution of private international law or 'choice of law' issues that arise in interpreting and applying across jurisdictions contract obligations and laws determining legitimacy of access and downstream use of GBMR/TK;
- (b) the nature of the disclosure obligation, in particular whether it is essentially a transparency mechanism to assist with the monitoring of compliance with non-patent laws and regulations, or whether it incorporates compliance mechanisms;
- (c) the ways in which patent law and procedure can take account of the circumstances and context of inventive activity that are unrelated to the assessment of the invention itself and the eligibility of the applicant to be granted a patent;

- (d) the situations in which national authorities can impose additional administrative, procedural or substantive legal requirements on patent applicants, within existing international legal standards applying to patent procedures, and the role of non-IP international law and legal principles in this regard;
- (e) the legal and operational distinction (to the extent one can be drawn) between patent formalities or procedural requirements, and substantive criteria for patentability, and ways of characterizing the legal implications of such distinctions;
- (f) clarification of the implications of issues such as the concept of 'country of origin' in relation to genetic resources covered by multilateral access and benefit-sharing systems, differing approaches to setting and enforcing conditions for access and benefit sharing in the context of patent disclosure requirements, and coherence between mechanisms for recording or certifying conditions of access and the patent system.
- 95. A further area for clarification is what actions of the inventor or patent applicant are to be monitored or regulated through a disclosure requirement the actual use of the GBMR/TK (including its use in inventive activities), or the act of filing a patent application as such. The policy concern may relate to the legitimacy of the research or commercial behavior that makes use of the GBMR/TK (including prior informed consent of TK or GBMR holders). In this case, the patent application provides evidence of such behaviour, where it may be of concern. Such concern may relate to the very filing a patent application or holding a patent (for instance, where prior informed consent is given to research but not seeking IP, or prior informed consent includes agreement on assignment, coownership or similar disposition of ensuing IP). ⁵⁰
- 96. The Technical Study notes that the core issues raised are the subjects of ongoing international policy debate. They may involve specific policy choices, such as the distinction between formal requirements or 'form or contents' and substantive patent law and how to certify the basis of prior informed consent or legitimacy of access to GBMR/TK. It observed that some key legal concepts and approaches raised in the debate are so far untested, are the subject of policy development, or are in the early stages of implementation and practical experience, and thus cannot be definitively analyzed. Accordingly, the study was offered as a resource to facilitate the continuing debate, not to prescribe any particular approach.

TRIPS Council⁵¹

97. As noted above, the Doha Ministerial Declaration gave instructions to the TRIPS Council which included examination of the relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the CBD. Part II of this document (above) contains a summary of this process. With reference to this decision, in 2004, a number of WTO Members submitted to the WTO TRIPS Council a checklist of issues relevant to this work.⁵² The purpose of the checklist was 'to assist and expedite the process and not to limit the ambit of the discussions'. The checklist was 'drawn up on the basis of the issues raised and points made by various delegations in their communications and statements to the Council for TRIPS since 1999 and, in particular,

Clarified in response to comments of Brazil on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

⁵¹ Comments of the United States of America and Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

The Relationship between the TRIPS Agreement and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD): Checklist of Issues, IP/C/W/420 and IP/C/W/420/Add.1 (March 2004), submitted by Bolivia, Brazil, Cuba, Ecuador, India, Peru, Thailand and Venezuela.

in the post-Doha period. It is provided here as it may be relevant to the issues under consideration.

Disclosure of source and country of origin of the biological resource and of the traditional knowledge used in the invention

- How would an obligation for disclosure of country and source of origin of biological resource and associated traditional knowledge used in an invention help in better examination of patents and in preventing cases of bad patents?
- What is the meaning of disclosure of source and country of origin of biological resource and of the traditional knowledge used in the invention?
- What would be the legal effect of wrongful disclosure or non-disclosure?
- On whom should the burden of proof lie?
- In what manner should the proposed obligation of disclosure of source and country of origin and associated traditional knowledge be introduced in the TRIPS Agreement?

Disclosure of evidence of prior informed consent under the relevant national regime

- How would furnishing the above evidence facilitate achieving the objectives of the CBD of ensuring prior informed consent and harmonious relationship between the CBD and the TRIPS Agreement? Could contractual arrangements for ensuring prior informed consent and benefit-sharing suffice to achieve the objectives of the CBD in this regard?
- How should the evidence of prior informed consent through approval of authorities under the relevant national regime be provided for?
- What should be the nature of obligation on the patent applicant that should satisfy the requirement of prior informed consent?
- What should be the obligation if there is no national regime in the country of origin?
- What should be the legal effect of not providing evidence of prior informed consent through approval of authorities under the relevant national regime?

Disclosure of evidence of benefit sharing under the relevant national regime

- What should be the meaning of evidence of benefit sharing under the relevant national regime?
- When is this evidence to be introduced by the patent applicant?
- What should be the obligation if there is no relevant national regime in the country of origin?

- What should be the legal effect of not providing evidence of fair and equitable benefit sharing under the relevant national regime?
- Successive meetings of the TRIPS Council have dealt further with these issues, and further proposals have been submitted.⁵³ According to comments submitted by the United States of America, "the TRIPS Council has decided not to structure its work based upon the proposed checklist" and that it, "in response to an initial proposal by the delegation of Canada, has embarked upon a more 'fact-based' discussion involving national experiences in trying to achieve progress in that area." The United States also noted a further proposal "to structure work upon widely shared objectives of WTO Members. These objectives consist of (i) ensuring authorized access to genetic resources, i.e., that prior informed consent is obtained; (ii) achieving equitable sharing of the benefits arising from the use of traditional knowledge and genetic resources; and (iii) preventing the issuance of erroneously issued patents. This approach is preferred by certain [WTO] Members in order to ensure that the positions of all Members are fully considered, without prejudice to any particular position, in order to facilitate resolving differences between Members in that forum. Furthermore, this approach has generated significant discussion in that forum as evidenced by a number of papers engaging on that level (see IP/C/W/434 by the United States and IP/C/W/443 by India and Brazil) as well as comments by various Members."54

These are listed in paragraph 42 above.

⁵⁴ Comments of the United States of America on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

PART IV: SPECIFIC ISSUES IN THE CBD COP INVITATION

99. This Part sets out material on the five specific elements of the CBD invitation, briefly (a) model provisions; (b) trigger mechanisms; (c) incentives; (d) treaty implications; and (e) implications of certification. The content of each section draws mainly on the submissions by Member States, the material set out above, the Technical Study and several other studies cited above, including the UNEP-WIPO study.

A. OPTIONS FOR MODEL PROVISIONS

100. The first specific element of the CBD COP invitation concerns 'options for model provisions on proposed disclosure requirements.' Certain Member State submissions (set out below) express caution about the development of model provisions, citing various reasons. Given that other Member States made substantive submissions on this element of the invitation, one possible way of taking this concern into account could be to observe firstly that the examination of options for model provisions in the course of the current exercise should not prejudice the position of those Member States who wish to establish internationally binding rules in WIPO or in other fora; and secondly that the examination of options for model provisions may be seen as a supplementary mechanism for advancing understanding and international consensus on the substance of disclosure requirements rather than necessarily an end in itself. For some commentators, the question of 'options for model provisions' was associated with the issue of effectiveness and legal status of disclosure requirements. On effectiveness and legal status, CIEL calls for a "focus on the necessary international rules for imposing mandatory legal recognition and enforcement of national disclosure obligations by all States, which will be critical if the intellectual property law system is to support and not run counter to the objectives of the CBD" and distinguishes "between unilateral disclosure requirements, which existing intellectual property law treaties clearly allow, as reflected in the existing practices of a number of WIPO Member States that have adopted such requirements, and the need to modify international intellectual property rules to ensure disclosure requirements are mandatory and effective."55

Form or status of model provisions

101. The form or status of model provisions would depend on their intended function. 'Model provisions' would normally suggest standard text to be drawn on to guide either national legislation or agreements, but without any legally binding quality (even though there may be other incentives to comply). Model provisions may be intended to give practical guidance (including for coordinating technical assistance to countries who elect to introduce disclosure requirements and other measures at the national level). Non-binding recommendations may take the form of model provisions (an example would be more detailed elaboration of the recommendations regarding disclosure already present in the Bonn Guidelines). Model provisions may serve as a menu to illustrate the range of options available for national legislation. Model provisions may also serve to illustrate the range of options available to facilitate international debate, policy coordination or textual negotiations. Model provisions may be intended to evolve into draft provisions that would provide the basis for coordination and negotiation on a future binding legal instrument or provisions within a revised international legal instrument. There may of course be a range of other options concerning the form and status of model provisions, depending on their purpose and context.

⁵⁵ Comments of CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

102. Based on the submissions already made, a likely concern is that any formulation of model provisions should not prejudice national positions on the development of legally binding international law, including prejudice on substantive policy or legal points, but also potential prejudice to the procedural opportunities and the allocation of resources.

Substance of model provisions

- 103. Concerning the substance of potential model provisions on disclosure requirements, there appear to be three general options: (i) elaborating or extending existing patent law mechanisms and adapting them specifically to TK and GBMR as appropriate; (ii) specific or targeted disclosure and related mechanisms, ⁵⁶ and (iii) maintaining, and not exceeding, traditional disclosure requirements. ⁵⁷ Based on existing studies and surveys, the first category (adapting or extending existing mechanisms) could include provisions on recognition of TK as prior art; requirements to disclose any known TK relevant to the invention; provisions on entitlement to apply, ownership and other interests as a consequence of access and benefit-sharing obligations incurred by the applicant; provisions on disclosure of inventors ensuring the recognition of inventive contributions by TK holders; provisions for deposit and notification of samples of GBMR relevant to the invention; other provisions ensuring the identification and location of GBMR relevant to the invention; and provisions concerning requirements to supply further evidence to substantiate inventorship or entitlement to apply.
- 104. Measures or proposals in the second category (specific or targeted measures) can be variously characterized as follows:⁵⁸
- (a) Origin or source: disclosure of the source and/or country of origin of GBMR and/or TK or associated traditional knowledge, where the GBMR or TK is connected to the claimed invention in a defined way:
- (b) *Prior informed consent:* declaration, submission of specific documentation, or furnishing of other evidence of compliance with prior informed consent under the relevant national regime (relating to GBMR and possibly associated TK); and
- (c) Equitable benefit-sharing: declaration, submission of specific documentation, or furnishing of other evidence of compliance with fair and equitable benefit sharing under the relevant national regime (relating to GBMR and possibly associated TK).

In addition, at least one national law requires that certain inputs to a claimed invention have been obtained in a lawful manner. Such a requirement could, for example, have relevance to prior informed consent or compliance with ABS regulations.

105. Ghana characterizes the general options as "(i) mandatory requirements for disclosure of origin and legal access (this takes into account prior informed consent and mutually agreed

Clarified in response to comments by Brazil on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1; these comments add that "though disclosure of origin/PIC/benefit sharing could be described as a 'specific' disclosure mechanism, Brazil believes that such a mechanism would be fully in line with the existing principles and objectives of the patent system and, if adopted and implemented at the international level, would only work to improve the functioning of the existing international patent system."

Comments by the United States of America on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

E.g. Proposals by Brazil and others, and by Switzerland, noted above.

terms); (ii) disclosure requirements without legal consequences in cases of non-compliance; and (iii) stand alone disclosure requirements linked to public law – access legislation etc." Ghana notes that "most developing countries prefer the first option. What has not been clarified is whether to make the disclosure mandatory as a formality in the patent procedure or as substantive patentability criterion."

Some possible functions of disclosure requirements

106. The submission of Brazil summarized the functions of an enhanced disclosure and ABS compliance requirement as follows:

It is envisaged that the establishment of a mandatory, universal disclosure of origin requirement will contribute to the attainment of the following objectives:

- 1. Improve the substantive examination of patent applications, by (i) helping to ensure that all relevant prior art information is available to the patent examiner; (ii) helping patent examiners determine whether the claimed invention constitutes an invention that is excluded from patentability under, for example, Article 27, paragraphs 2 and 3, of the TRIPS Agreement, as well as related provisions of other international agreements; (iii) helping to systematize available information on biological resources and associated traditional knowledge that will continuously build the prior art information available to patent examiners and the general public.
- 2. It is foreseen, furthermore, that the disclosure requirement will also be relevant to the determination of inventorship or entitlement to the claimed invention, and would be useful in cases relating to challenges to patent grants, including disputes on inventorship or entitlement, as well as infringement cases.
- 3. In some cases, disclosure of origin may also facilitate or permit the actual execution of the invention, such as where a biological material is endemic to a specific location;
- 4. Disclosure of origin would, moreover, constitute a necessary and effective incentive measure for patent applicants to comply with the access and benefit sharing legislation of countries of origin of the biological resources, in a manner that would contribute to the realization of the principles and objectives enshrined in provisions of international IP treaties, such as Articles 7 and 8 of the TRIPS Agreement. More generally, it would constitute an important realization of the principle of *equity*.
- 5. As a transparency measure, disclosure of origin would help keep track of the commercial exploitation of biological materials for the purposes of benefit sharing.
- 107. Switzerland views the declaration of the source of genetic resources and traditional knowledge in patent applications to be a measure that increases transparency in the context of access to genetic resources and traditional knowledge and the sharing of the benefits arising out of their utilization, in particular with regard to the obligations of the users of genetic resources and traditional knowledge, and terms these measures 'transparency measures'. ⁵⁹

⁵⁹ Comments by Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

108. The Berne Declaration observes that disclosure requirements are one important tool to make sure that no patents are granted for inventions which are based on genetic resources or traditional knowledge which have been accessed in contradiction to the CBD rules and the relevant national laws. It comments that disclosure requirements would 'not only support the objectives of the CBD but also preserve confidence in the IP system. Giving monopoly rights to inventors which have bio-pirated genetic resources or traditional knowledge undermines this confidence.'

Other guidance on options for disclosure requirements

- 109. The submission of the United States on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1 points out that "new disclosure requirements may be inconsistent with, or may conflict with, WIPO-administered treaties such as the PCT and PLT, as well as the WTO-administered TRIPS Agreement."
- 110. On element (a) of the invitation, the Kyrgyz Republic comments that the process 'does not at present allow time to give a uniform answer to the first question. It is necessary to analyze this matter deeper. However ... matters related to access to genetic resources have no direct legal links to the protection of GR and associated TK. The CBD provides for the right of each member state to make independent decisions related to genetic resources on the national level. Disclosure requirements or designation of the biological material used in the process of the subject matter creation on which protection is claimed are purely technical in nature and do not ryb contrary to the CBD provisions and objectives. We deem that disclosure requirements as to the biological materials, could allow developing national-level provisions to regulate matters related to the access to genetic resources and equitable sharing arising from the use of genetic resources.'
- 111. Concerning the possible options for provisions, the submission of Brazil proposes that 'disclosure of origin, prior informed consent and fair and equitable benefit sharing (henceforward, "disclosure of origin") should be a mandatory requirement, to be imposed on patent applicants in all jurisdictions, preferably through an amendment to relevant international intellectual property treaties, such as the WTO TRIPS Agreement.' It stipulates that a 'patent application will be deemed to comply with a disclosure of origin requirement if it contains a declaration, in a prescribed form, indicating the source and country of origin of the biological resources and/or associated traditional knowledge used in an invention, as well as a declaration that prior informed consent and fair and equitable benefit sharing have been complied with under the relevant national regime. These declarations should be accompanied, where relevant, by the actual evidence of prior informed consent and benefit sharing, for example, in the form of a certificate or duly certified contract between the applicant and the national authorities of the country of origin.'
- 112. The Australian submission suggests that any disclosure requirements should:
 - be easy to implement;
 - not impose undue burdens and costs on IP right owners and administrators;
 - encourage research and commercialisation;
 - not affect the integrity of IP rights, especially since lack of disclosure should not be a bar to a patent, although there may be other legal ramifications outside the IP system (for example, transfer of ownership) for failing to disclose traditional knowledge and/or genetic resources;

⁶⁰ Comments by the Berne Declaration on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

- have a minimum impact on current IP systems;
- encourage creators to disclose the relevant inputs into their inventive process,
 while recognising there may be circumstances in which disclosure is not possible or appropriate; and
- provide useful information and be easily accessible to access providers.
- 113. Turkey observes that disclosure mechanisms should provide for compliance with access and benefit sharing regulations, penalties for provisions of false information, refusal of grant on formality grounds, invalidation of patent after grant, narrowing or invalidation of patent claims that would have been supported by information not disclosed and prior informed consent.
- 114. Belize submitted that the model provisions 'must include clauses relating to the fair and equitable sharing of benefits including profit sharing, royalty payments, access to and transfer of technologies, the granting of free licenses to the community, and the development of local human resources. Also, the model provisions must outline enforcement measures that are expeditious and preventive, and constitute a deterrent to further infringements. Such enforcement measures must cover civil judicial procedures, provisional measures, border measures, and criminal procedures. However, such enforcement measures must not create barriers to free trade and must meet the basic principles of due process.'
- 115. Belize also proposed that 'related provisions must be included in a wide array of intellectual property legislation such as patents and plant variety legislation. Patent applicants must be required to disclose the source and geographical origin of the biological material in their specifications and to demonstrate that they have secured prior informed consent to use the material. The traditional knowledge of indigenous communities should qualify as prior art that is capable of anticipating an invention that is claimed in a specification. The traditional knowledge holder must also be treated as a person 'skilled in the art' in order to determine the obviousness of an invention. Such model patent law provisions must also cover the area of opposition and revocation. Belize proposes that an invention should be refused or revoked if the invention is anticipated by traditional knowledge or if the complete specification does not disclose or wrongly mentions the source of the biological material used for the invention. Similar provisions must be included in the model provisions for plant varieties legislation.'
- 116. The proposal of the EC and its Member States suggested that "in order to provide patent applicants with a clear idea of what needs to be disclosed, the language used here should be the same as in the CBD definitions of country of origin, genetic resources and genetic material. First, the material that would be the subject of the requirement: Article 15 (7) of the CBD states that access and benefit-sharing objectives must be met with regard to "genetic resources." It is therefore coherent to use the universally accepted CBD language. "Genetic resources" is defined in Article 2 of the CBD as "genetic material of actual or potential value". The same provision states that "genetic material" includes "any material, of plant, animal, microbial or other origin containing functional units of heredity". In this context, human genetic resources are excluded, and this exclusion should be carried over to the proposed system. Second, the origin of the genetic resource: a disclosure of origin requirement would assist countries providing access to genetic resources to monitor and keep track of compliance with national access and benefit-sharing rules. On this basis, the applicant should be required to declare the country of origin of genetic resources, if he is aware of it. No additional research on his part would be required. It is the disclosure of the country of origin that paves the way for monitoring the respect of the rules on access and benefit-sharing,

where such rules are in place. Third, the connection between the material and the patented invention: the applicant must have used the genetic resources in the claimed invention. A notion should be applied that makes it possible for the applicant to disclose the material used in the invention in an adequate way, without having the obligation to make further research on the origin of the resource, taking into account the interests of the applicant, the patent office and other stake holders. A good balance can be found by requiring that the invention must be "directly based on" the specific genetic resources. In such circumstances, the invention must make immediate use of the genetic resource, that is, depend on the specific properties of this resource. The inventor must also have had physical access to the genetic resource, that is, its possession or at least contact which is sufficient enough to identify the properties of the genetic resource that are relevant for the invention."

- 117. Colombia considers that 'the grant of patents which relate to inventions developed from biological and genetic resources, and their products, derived from a country of origin which is a party to the CBD, should be subject to access being granted thereto in accordance with the requirements of Article 15 of the CBD, and the national and international standards specific to the subject. The disclosure should state clearly the place, quantity and date of collection of the material.' Colombia endorsed the Swiss proposal concerning the PCT (set out above in Part II), noting the following principles:
 - transparency measures must be effective and efficient;
 - transparency measures should guarantee legal security, be practical, and avoid major charges and costs for patent applicants, as well as for patent authorities;
 - the measures should allow States to introduce solutions to take effect at the national level, and which relate to national interests and needs;
 - transparency measures should be consistent with the relevant international agreements.
- 118. Colombia added that the requirement of disclosure should in all cases be compulsory, so that 'a declaration to the effect that the origin of the genetic resource is unknown would not suffice for the purposes of fully satisfying the disclosure requirement.' In addition, the proposed text should not refer to the "national law applied by the designated Office", but to any Member State, thereby confirming the binding nature of the requirement of disclosure.
- 119. The Swiss proposals use the terms "genetic resources" and "traditional knowledge related to genetic resources" to ensure consistency with the CBD, the Bonn Guidelines and the International Treaty of the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). As a measure under patent law, the focus is on traditional knowledge that can give rise to a technical invention.
- 120. Switzerland proposes to require patent applicants to declare the "source" of genetic resources and traditional knowledge. The term "source" should be understood in its broadest sense possible. This is because according to the international instrument referred to above, a multitude of entities may be involved in access and benefit sharing. In the foreground to be declared as the source is the entity competent (i) to grant access to genetic resources and/or traditional knowledge or (ii) to participate in the sharing of the benefits arising out of their utilization. Depending on the genetic resource or traditional knowledge in question, one can distinguish primary sources, including in particular Contracting Parties providing genetic resources, the Multilateral System of the FAO International Treaty, indigenous and local communities, and secondary sources, including in particular *ex situ* collections and scientific literature. Accordingly, there is a "cascade" of possible primary and secondary sources: Patent applicants must declare the primary source to fulfil the requirement, if they have

information about this primary source at hand. A secondary source may only be declared if patent applicants have no information at hand about the primary source.

- 121. With regard to genetic resources, the proposed new Rule 51bis.1(g)(i) of the PCT Regulations makes clear (i) that the invention must make immediate use of the genetic resource, that is, depend on the specific properties of this resource, and (ii) that the inventor must have had physical access to this resource, that is, its possession or at least contact which is sufficient enough to identify the properties of the genetic resource relevant for the invention. With regard to traditional knowledge, the proposed new Rule 51bis.1(g)(ii) of the PCT Regulations makes clear that the inventor must know that the invention is directly based on such knowledge, that is, the inventor must consciously derive the invention from this knowledge.⁶¹
- 122. The Berne Declaration proposed that "disclosure requirements should incorporate the evidence of compliance with PIC and with fair and equitable benefit sharing under the relevant national regime. For patent applicants who have chosen the legal path to access genetic resources this disclosure represents no additional effort since they already needed these documents in order to gain access to resources and/or traditional knowledge. It is possible that this information is part of a Material Transfer Agreement (MTA). A regulation only makes sense if disclosure is made an integral part of the application process and false statements are subject to severe penalties. Consequently, any patent based on false statements should be revoked. The right of a country of origin or an indigenous community to claim their share of the benefits deriving from the illegal (i.e. not CBD compatible) use of their resources under a patented invention must be anchored in the law."

Concerns about or limits to the development of model provisions

123. As noted above, several submissions raise concerns about the role of model provisions. The African Group cautions against model provisions on the basis that 'only internationally legally binding measures could effectively contribute to combating the misappropriation of genetic resources and the traditional knowledge associated with these resources. The Group therefore considers that 'model provisions would not constitute an effective measure for combating the misappropriation of genetic resources.' The 'effective solution to this global problem should be a mandatory universal disclosure requirement implemented in all countries.' The Group accordingly observed that it would not be appropriate for WIPO to examine (a) in the CBD invitation, and that the response to the CBD invitation should take this opinion into account. Brazil⁶³ expresses support for this position "since model provisions do not constitute an effective measure for combating the misappropriation of genetic resources" and "an effective solution to the global problem of 'bio-piracy' would be, among other measures, to adopt and implement a mandatory universal disclosure requirement in all countries alike."

124. Switzerland proposes several amendments to the PCT Regulations 'in order to explicitly enable the Contracting Parties of this treaty to require patent applicants to declare the source

_

Comments by Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1. In its comments on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1, the Berne Declaration drew attention to precise recommendations for a practical option for such requirements, available at http://www.wipo.int/tk/en/igc/ngo/meienberg2.pdf

Comments of the Berne Declaration on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1, drawing attention to further comments at http://www.wipo.int/tk/en/igc/ngo/meienberg1.pdf

⁶³ Comments of Brazil on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1

of genetic resources and traditional knowledge in patent applications' and observes that the 'wording of the proposed new provisions ... in particular the proposed new subpara. (g) in Rule 51*bis*.1 and subpara. (vi) in Rule 4.17, is sufficiently specific and clear to be directly implemented at the national level. Accordingly, Switzerland sees no need for model provisions on proposed disclosure requirements.'

125. The United States advised that it supported the goals of ensuring appropriate access and prior informed consent to genetic resources and equitable benefit sharing agreements and principles, but that it strongly believed that new disclosure requirements in the patent system were not an effective means of achieving these goals: "new disclosure requirements in the patent system would create uncertainties in the patent application process and in any patent rights granted without achieving the desired goals stated above. New disclosure requirements would create additional obstacles for patent applicants, increase uncertainties in patent examination, as examiners could not verify the provided information, increase administrative costs for patent offices and generate more post-grant litigation on patent rights. These increased burdens and uncertainties are not warranted in the patent system, especially since the new disclosure requirements would not achieve the desired outcome of appropriate prior informed consent and benefit sharing and, indeed, could lead to significant negative consequences." The United States observed that 'there can be no model provisions for new disclosure requirements, as new disclosure requirements would only frustrate the objectives that they are intended to achieve.'

126. Japan⁶⁴ observes that "a patent system provides for two categories of disclosure requirements (i.e. substantive and formative requirements) as a prerequisite for granting patent right for an invention. The necessity to disclose the source/country of origin cannot be explained by the requirements of a patent system. Unless the need for such disclosure is clearly explained, any administrative sanctions including invalidation of a patent right should not be incorporated into a patent system." Specifically in regard to substantive requirements, Japan points out that "[c]urrently, the microorganism deposit system has been able to fully satisfy the application description requirements (including enablement requirements). Therefore, imposing a new obligation to disclose the source/country of origin of genetic resources in patent applications cannot be considered to be such a meaningful approach. For an application for an invention based on a microorganism, which any person skilled in the art can easily access, the applicant is not required to deposit the microorganism. The applicant only has to describe how the invention can be worked, using such a microorganism which is accessible to the public, in a manner for any person skilled in the art to be able to work the invention. Information about the source/country of origin of genetic resource cannot be used to satisfy application description requirements (including enablement requirements). Therefore, as for microorganisms made accessible to the public with which the application deals, imposition of a new obligation on applicants to disclose the source/country of origin of genetic resources in their patent applications cannot be considered a meaningful approach in terms of application description requirements (including enablement requirements). Information about the source/country of origin of genetic resources might be unnecessary for judging the level of novelty and inventive step of an invention. Such information cannot be considered to be essential for prior art searches, either. Therefore, there is no reason why such information should be furnished as an additional disclosure requirement from the perspective of the examination process."

⁶⁴

127. Concerning formal requirements, Japan pointed out that "such entries as applicant names are to be made formative requirements only when such requirements are regarded as reasonable (see Article 62 of the TRIPS Agreement). As regards the disclosure of the source/country of origin of genetic resources, therefore, we are not convinced that such disclosure requirement is regarded as "reasonable procedures and formalities." Even without such disclosure, there is no problem in carrying out the patent procedure and such lack of disclosure does not make the patent procedure ineffective." Japan considers that "access to genetic resources and fair/equitable benefit sharing in the context of CBD can be secured without making it an obligation to disclose the source/country of origin of genetic resources in a patent application. Imposition of such an obligation can dampen applicants' will to create an invention using genetic resources and to obtain a patent for that invention. As a result, benefits deriving from genetic resource-related inventions can be reduced, which, thus does not meet the purposes of CBD."

128. CIEL comments that an "international system of recognition and enforcement of national access and benefit sharing requirements is indispensable. The commercial benefits that may result from any violations of CBD access and benefit sharing requirements or from unauthorized uses of traditional knowledge are not limited to the jurisdictions in which those violations or unauthorized uses occur. The policy debate recited in the First Draft, while focusing on whether model provisions linking the intellectual property system to CBD obligations are necessary to such recognition and enforcement, does not consider the issue from the perspective of the need to ensure effective international requirements.⁶⁵ For example, the general option of adapting existing patent disclosures discussed by the First Draft identifies existing patent law requirements, but it does not fully discuss where and how it has been noted existing patent law requirements would need to be revised to be effective in disclosing violations or unauthorized uses. An enhanced consideration of effective mechanisms for protecting the intellectual property system from misuse [see CIEL comments on section IV.2 below] and of how existing international treaties impose legal obligations in regard to conduct occurring within a jurisdiction based on the legality of prior actions taken in other jurisdictions or based on consideration of the values and norms of other jurisdictions [see CIEL comments on section IV.4 below], for example, would be extremely useful. Such analysis, nevertheless, should still note that the formulation of any type of model provisions 'should not prejudice national positions on the development of legally binding international law. 66,,,67

Specific elements of model provisions

129. The Technical Study identified a range of disclosure scenarios, which may be correlated with the possible substantial content of model provisions; the content of each of these can be found in existing Member State submissions, proposals or laws:

 specific mechanisms created to address GBMR and TK, in particular relating to disclosure of origin or source, such as the proposals and existing measures set out in Part II above: these may relate to declaration of origin or source, evidence of prior informed consent, and/or evidence of fair and equitable benefit sharing);

⁶⁵ See, e.g., [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] at paragraph 89-101.

Id. at paragraph 85

⁶⁷ Comments of CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

- identifying TK and/or GBMR explicitly as prior art vitiating the novelty of a claimed invention;
- provisions requiring the disclosure of known TK and/or GBMR as prior art relevant to the assessment of the patentability of a claimed invention;
- provisions requiring a TK holder as the inventor or as one inventor when TK is a specific component of the claimed invention;
- when the origin of GBMR is required for to enable the carrying out of the invention;
- when the disclosure of actual GBMR, or even the physical deposit of a sample, is required for enablement;
- when obligations under access and benefit-sharing laws or agreements affect the entitlement to apply for a patent; and
- when disclosure of other information is required under other legal obligations, arising under contracts or access regulation.

'Lawful' as against 'rightful' obtaining of resources

130. A recently published independent study commissioned by UNEP and WIPO draws a distinction between lawful and rightful obtaining of resources used in inventions, raising a potential supplementary option for model provisions for ethical guidance in the absence of applicable legislation:

Every patent office should insist that a patent applicant declares that the knowledge and resources used in the relevant invention have been obtained "lawfully" and "rightfully". This last point may require legislation in both developed and developing countries to ensure proper disclosure by a corporation or individual seeking patent protection. "Lawful" acquisition will, of course, depend upon the laws and regulations in place in the source country, and may, for instance, require the need to consider whether prior informed consent of relevant local communities and creative individuals has been obtained. "Rightful" acquisition may involve consideration of ethical issues. For instance, even if a local community had not originally required monetary compensation for sharing biological material or associated knowledge, might a potential applicant for a patent be bound by ethical conduct to set up a trust fund or other forms of monetary reciprocity for an affected local community? If a country does not have any applicable legislation in place … then material and knowledge may be acquired lawfully but not rightfully.⁶⁸

Summary of options for model provisions

Concerning the form or status of model provisions, specific options include:

- (a) model provisions for practical guidance (including for coordinating technical assistance to countries who elect to introduce disclosure requirements and other measures at the national level),
- (b) non-binding recommendations in the form of model provisions (such as more detailed elaboration of the recommendations already present in the Bonn Guidelines),

UNEP-WIPO study, footnote 8 above, 57-58; please note the information at that footnote on this study's status and limitations.

- (c) model provisions that serve to illustrate the range of options available for national legislation,
- (d) model provisions that serve to illustrate the range of options available for international debate, policy coordination or textual negotiations,
- (e) draft provisions intended to serve as the basis for coordination and negotiation on a future binding legal instrument or provisions within a revised international legal instrument, or
 - (f) viewing the form or status of such model provisions as "not relevant." 69

There may be other options concerning forum and status depending on the purpose of the model provisions. A key concern is that the development or promulgation of any model provisions should not prejudice the position or interests of Member States in terms of

Options on the <u>substance</u> of model provisions interact with each of the other elements of the examination which are discussed below (IV.B to IV.E). These options include enhanced use of existing patent law and principles, and new or *sui generis* mechanisms. A number of Member States have stressed that new mechanisms specific for TK and GBMR are required, but other mechanisms are mentioned as well for the sake of completeness.

One way of organizing options would be to use the following categories:

- (i) Nature of mechanism
- (ii) Subject matter of disclosure
- (iii) Required linkage with claimed or patented invention (or substantive trigger)
- (iv) Procedural trigger for disclosure requirement
- (v) Legal principle forming the basis of the requirement
- (vi) Nature of the obligation on the applicant
- (vii) Consequences of failure to comply and incentives to comply
- (viii) Implementing, verifying or monitoring the requirement

The following table has been developed to illustrate some of these options. It is stressed that this means of summarizing information is not intended to interpret, limit or promote any particular mechanism; nor does it reflect on the consistency or otherwise of any approach with existing treaty standards.

Submission of the United States of America on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

Illustrative table of options for disclosure and related mechanisms*

Nature of mechanism	Subject matter	Linkage with invention	Legal basis	Nature of obligation	Consequences of failure	Implementation
Acknowledgement of inventorship	Traditional knowledge	Part or entirety of the claimed inventive concept	Entitlement to apply derived from actual inventor(s); Paris Convention obligation to identify inventor	If TK holder contributes to claimed inventive concept, requirement to disclose identity. Possible requirement to identify TK holder as coapplicant/co-owner, or as sole applicant/owner.		Office may request further information in the event prima facie doubt exists re identity of inventor Administrative or judicial proceedings for opposition, revocation or full/partial transfer of patent to TK holder
Declaration of TK as relevant prior art	Traditional knowledge that meets legal criteria fo prior art [and that is known to applicant]	Relevant to the rpatentability of the claimed invention (e.g. novelty and inventiveness, non-obviousness	Patentability of invention includes novelty and inventive step (or non-obviousness). Obligation to inform office of known relevant information.	Applicant is obliged to disclose all known prior art relevant to patentability of claimed invention, including traditional knowledge.	similar offence; sanctions for inequitable behaviour;	
Definition of prior art	Traditional knowledge	TK explicitly designated as prior art that vitiates novelty and/or non- obviousness	Clarification of existing law of patentable inventions	Invention must be novel and non-obvious	Claims may be narrowed, refused or revoked.	Relevant to examination, opposition or revocation proceedings.
Definition of patentable invention	Traditional knowledge and/or GBMR	Invention cannot consist of existing TK or certain GBMR	Law defining scope of patentable subject matter	Claimed invention must fall within permitted subject matter	Claims may be narrowed, refused or revoked.	Relevant to examination, opposition or revocation proceedings.

This table is to illustrate mechanisms that have been discussed or proposed. It is not intended to suggest, interpret or promote any particular mechanism, nor to limit choices available. It does not imply that any specific choice is consistent or otherwise with treaty obligations.

Sources: Member State submissions and responses to WIPO/GRTKF/IC/Q.3, Technical Study, and measures in Part II above.

Nature of mechanism	Subject matter	Linkage with invention	Legal basis	Nature of obligation	Consequences of failure	Implementation
Specific disclosure of TK or GBMR, or related ABS-compliance measure	(ii) TK associated with	- incidental - necessary to deriving the invention	or with specific contractual obligations to provider of GBMR or TK. Ownership rights established on the basis of an ABS law or specific ABS agreement. Expanded application of patent law disclosure principles. Principles governing equitable behaviour and the equitable basis of an entitlement to apply for,	TK (ii) provide a declaration, evidence or certification of prior informed consent relating to access (iii) provide a declaration, evidence or certification of an agreement to share benefits, or of actual sharing of benefits and/or (iv) ensure TK or GMBR used in invention are	incomplete upon filing without required declaration or documentation (ii) Application rejected during formality examination (with/without procedure for rectifying) (iii) Application rejected during substantive examination (with/without procedure for rectifying) (iv) Patent not granted or sealed until/unless required material is provided (v) Patent opposed or revoked if required material is lacking. (vi) Patent ownership transferred in whole/in part to beneficiary of ABS	formal/substantive examination (ii) grounds for opposition, revocation, or unenforceability of patent (iii) basis for claim of assignment or transfer of patent in whole or part to ABS beneficiary.

Nature of mechanism	Subject matter	Linkage with invention	Legal basis	Nature of obligation	Consequences of failure	Implementation
Obligation outside patent law to disclose details of access/use, or to cede/share ownership	GBMR and/or TK provided under an ABS or related law, or within the terms of a specific ABS agreement.	Defined by obligations under the ABS or related law, or the specific ABS agreement.	ABS or related law in country of origin Contract obligation in country of origin, to be recognized in patenting country.	Obligation to disclose TK or GMRM Obligation to include ABS beneficiary as applicant or co-applicant	Breach of obligation under law or contract Transfer of ownership in whole or part.	Counterclaim during patent enforcement Challenge by interested party
Deposit of microorganisms or biological material	Microorganisms, or biological material	Relevant to patent procedure (e.g. invention cannot be fully disclosed or enabled without access to microorganism or biological material)	Obligation to disclose invention under basic patent law principles cannot be fulfilled without deposit of actual sample. Budapest Treaty arrangements for international recognition of deposit.		resulting in	Certification provided during patent procedure.

TRIGGERS FOR DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

- 131. The second specific element of the CBD invitation relates to 'practical options for intellectual property rights application procedures with regard to the triggers of disclosure requirements.' The 'trigger' for disclosure requirements has been construed in a substantive sense (what is the required relationship between the claimed or patented invention and the relevant GBMR or TK to trigger the obligation to disclose) and in a procedural sense (at what stage of processing an application would the obligation be triggered. (50) Similarly, the comment has been made that the 'disclosure requirement would have both substantive and formal implications.'⁷¹ The need to clarify the trigger of the disclosure obligation was identified in the Technical Study and examined in detail (see V.1 of the Study, and the brief summary above in Part III).
- 132. Belize comments on the trigger requirement in the context of patent processing. It suggests that 'the most effective way of triggering the disclosure requirement will be to require industrial property offices to conduct searches for 'traditional prior art'. However, this requirement will never be effective unless certain practical steps are taken. Firstly, technically uniform digital databases will have to be created of existing traditional knowledge. Secondly, such documentation must be recognized for national and international prior art searches. This entails the incorporation of such data in international classification systems such as the International Patent Classification (IPC), and the recruiting of traditional knowledge experts by International Search Authorities (ISA).' Separate steps are in train within various WIPO for a to implement measures along these lines.
- 133. Ghana indicates that if the invention is 'essentially derived' from the GR/TK, then it should trigger the disclosure requirement, whether or not the 'material used is well known (public domain) or not (undisclosed information).'
- 134. Colombia suggests that the analysis of a patent application, insofar as it is based on a genetic resource, and the study of legal access thereto should be incorporated in the guidelines for patent examiners. This would mean that the following elements should be disclosed when a patent application is filed with the patent office:
- the biological and genetic resources and their derived products as used, together with the individual certificate of legal provenance;
 - the country of origin of said resources; and
 - proof of the prior informed consent of the country of origin with regard to (b). (c)
- 135. Colombia proposes that national intellectual property authorities should include, in the determination of the prior art, information referring to biological and genetic resources and their derived products belonging to the Parties. In addition, the documented information which has been submitted on these subjects by the competent intellectual property authorities of the other Party should be taken into account in the corresponding examinations. The information referred to in the previous paragraph will be intended for the exclusive use of the national intellectual property authorities for the purposes of examining patent applications.

⁷⁰ See, for example, comments by Colombia

⁷¹ Comments by Brazil

⁷² Details are set out, for example, in documents WIPO/GRTKF/IC/6/8 and WIPO/GRTKF/IC/5/6

- 136. Colombia proposes two options for activation of the disclosure requirement:
- (a) During the formal examination, when the office could send a notification in the event that the applicant has not produced the access contract or the certificate of origin of the genetic resource. Further stages in the application procedure would not proceed until the required disclosure was made.
- (b) During substantive or patentability examination, when it would be viable to notify the applicant of failure to disclose, but this would be less beneficial, since processing would be at a more advanced stage.
- 137. Commenting on triggers of disclosure requirements, Brazil noted that the disclosure requirement would have both substantive and formal implications. 'Any use of biological resources and associated traditional knowledge, the disclosure of which is necessary to determine the existence of prior art, inventorship or entitlement to the claimed invention, would be sufficient to trigger the disclosure obligation. Even where the use was only incidental, it would be sufficient to trigger the obligation, if the disclosure were relevant for prior art, inventorship or entitlement determinations, the scope of the claim and/or for understanding or carrying out the invention. Among others, the uses that would be relevant for prior art, inventorship or entitlement determinations, the determination of the scope of the claims and/or for understanding or carrying out the invention could include, among others, where the biological resources and/or traditional knowledge is used:
 - (a) to form part of the claimed invention;
 - (b) during the process of developing the claimed invention;
 - (c) as a necessary prerequisite for the development of the invention;
 - (d) to facilitate the development of the invention; and
- (e) as necessary background material for the development of the invention.

While there will be administrative implications and there may be cost implications for applicants as they are expected to at least employ all reasonable measures to determine the country of origin and source of the material to meet this obligation, it is not foreseen that administrative procedures and costs related to meeting the obligation would be in any way burdensome."

- 138. Ghana proposes that the trigger for the application of disclosure requirements 'should be based on the relationship between the invention and the GR/TK. If the invention is essentially derived from the GR/TK, then it should trigger the application of disclosure requirement. This should be made independent of whether the material used is well known (Public domain) or not (undisclosed information).'
- 139. The United States of America advises on the current substantive requirements that trigger disclosure requirements in its jurisdiction: "filing a patent application in the United States would trigger an obligation on behalf of the an applicant to disclose the claimed invention and the manner and process of making and using it, in full, clear, concise and exact terms as to enable any person skilled in the art to which it pertains to make and use the invention. Upon filing, the inventor is also required to disclose the best mode, or embodiment, of the invention that he or she is aware of at the time of filing. Finally, the possession of any information that is material to patentability, during the pendancy of the patent application, would trigger an obligation on behalf of the applicant to disclose this information to the USPTO."
- 140. The proposal of the EC and its Member States comments on the substantive linkage requires as follows: "a god balance can be found by requiring that the invention must be "directly based on" the specific genetic resources. In such circumstances, the invention must

make immediate use of the genetic resource, that is, depend on the specific properties of this resource. The inventor must also have had physical access to the genetic resource, that is, its possession or at least contact which is sufficient enough to identify the properties of the genetic resource that are relevant for the invention."

- 141. The Kyrgyz Republic points out concerning the trigger of a disclosure requirement that 'it is necessary to develop relevant legal basis to regulate genetic resources and associated TK protection on the national and international levels, and develop legislation with regard to the access to genetic resources.'
- 142. Switzerland commented on the trigger of disclosure requirements in the substantive sense as follows: "the proposals by Switzerland distinguish between genetic resources and traditional knowledge: With regard to genetic resources, the proposed new Rule 51bis.1(g)(i) makes clear (1) that the invention must make immediate use of the genetic resource, that is, depend on the specific properties of this resource, and (2) that the inventor must have had physical access to this resource, that is, its possession or at least contact which is sufficient enough to identify the properties of the genetic resource relevant for the invention. With regard to traditional knowledge, the proposed new Rule 51bis.1(g)(ii) makes clear that the inventor must know that the invention is directly based on such knowledge, that is, the inventor must consciously derive the invention from this knowledge."
- 143. With regard to the trigger of the disclosure requirement in the procedural sense, the proposals by Switzerland proposes to amend the PCT Regulations to explicitly enable the Contracting Parties of the PCT to require patent applicants, upon or after entry of the international application into the national phase of the PCT procedure, to declare the source of genetic resources and/or traditional knowledge, if an invention is directly based on such resource or knowledge. Furthermore, Switzerland proposes to afford applicants the possibility of satisfying this requirement at the time of filing an international patent application or later during the international phase."⁷³

Equitable and ethical basis for triggers for disclosure requirements

144. CIEL notes that WIPO/IP/GR/05/1 "describes a wide range of substantive and procedural triggers for disclosure requirements and properly identifies a number of equitable issues that relate to these triggers," citing the Illustrative Table which identifies "[p]rinciples governing equitable behavior" and "ABS or related law in country of origin" as a legal basis, as distinct from patent law, for "specific disclosure" and "access/use" disclosure obligations, and distinguishes (in regard to the relationship to the invention or application) between existing patent law principles and "further forms of linkage." CIEL notes the discussion of "rightful" acquisition," which would require explicit consideration of ethical issues. ⁷⁴ CIEL observes that "these equitable issues are critically important, as they portray how basic principles of the intellectual property law system not only allow but also require prevention of the misuse of intellectual property rules. As a result, beyond identifying these equitable issues, it would be fundamental for [the draft examination] to elaborate on the integral relationship of equitable principles to intellectual property and to analyze how these principles should be taken into account through binding international legal requirements."

145. CIEL observes that in "intellectual property law, equitable principles provide authority to refuse to grant or to enforce intellectual property rights when they would be or have been

Comments by Switzerland on WIPO/ GR/05/01.

WIPO/IP/GR/05/1, paragraph 103; in the present document paragraph 128 above.

procured by fraud or deception, because to not do so would allow the intellectual property system to assist and reward the inequitable conduct. Existing intellectual property law systems thus recognize equitable limitations on the acquisition and enforcement of intellectual property rights. For example, statutory or regulatory requirements (derived from the equitable doctrine of "unclean hands") prohibit the vesting of intellectual property rights when the applicant has improperly acquired the knowledge on which intellectual property rights would be based, or mandate disclosures of information so as to assure that rights are not improperly acquired. Similarly, patent misuse doctrines limit the ability of patentees to enforce their rights when they have used those rights contrary to public policy. To assure equity, significant burdens may be imposed on intellectual property applicants. Further, where the grant of intellectual property rights has resulted in an unjust enrichment to the rights holders, the unjust rewards may be forcibly disgorged under other laws. These equitable doctrines reflect a more general principle, that governmental power should not be used to further undesirable conduct. Existing intellectual property

146. CIEL notes that "each of the areas identified by [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] in regard to substantive and procedural triggers requires analysis in regard to prevention of misuse of the intellectual property system. Equitable principles traditionally linked to the intellectual property system demand the consideration of the need to prevent misuse of the system in a manner that would advance and provide benefit to inequitable conduct. Such principles may extend the need for linkages in fact much further than suggested by some of the Member State submissions that [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] refers to. For example, preventing the misuse that would result from the grant and enforcement of intellectual property rights for unjust commercial benefit may require ensuring that disclosure requirements apply to a very broad range of source materials and information that are not "directly related to" the invention and

_

81 [Original footnote omitted].

See, e.g., 17 U.S.C. § 103(a) (prohibiting copyright protection from extending to "any part of the work in which [pre-existing copyrighted] material has been used unlawfully"); 37 C.F.R. § 1.56 (requiring of information relating to statutory criteria of patentability, including investigation of the knowledge of numerous persons involved in developing the invention or application) [footnote in original]

These misuse doctrines also derive from the equitable doctrine of unclean hands. The unclean hands doctrine has been traditionally applied by courts to "withhold their aid where the plaintiff is using the right asserted contrary to the public interest." *Morton Salt Co. v. G.S. Suppiger Co.*, 314 U.S. 488, 492 (1942) [footnote in original]

Courts, as part of the patent system, "are a vehicle for affirmatively enforcing the requirements of conscience and good faith. This presupposes a refusal on [the court's] part to be the 'abetter of iniquity." *Precision Instrument Mfg. Co. v. Automotive Maintenance Machinery Co.*, 324 U.S. 806, 814 (1945) (citation omitted). Applicants thus shoulder "an uncompromising duty to report to [the Patent Office] all facts concerning possible fraud or inequitableness underlying the applications in issue." *Id.* at 818. [footnote in original]

See, e.g., *Univ. of Colo. Found. v. American Cyanamid Co.*, 342 F.3d 1298, 1309-12 (Fed. Cir. 2003) (requiring under state law restitution of profits from a patent that resulted in an unjust enrichment at the expense of the actual inventors, without regard to any claim under the patent statute) (*citing Restatement of Restitution* § 1 (1937)). [footnote in original]

See, e.g., *Shelley v. Kraemer*, 334 U.S. 1, 20-22 (1948) (prohibiting judicial enforcement of restrictive racial covenants in real property, because the exercise of judicial power would violate constitutional rights). [footnote in original]

See, e.g., M. Rodriguez Ramos, "Equity" in the Civil Law: A Comparative Essay, 44 Tul. L. Rev. 720 (1970); Hessel E. Yntema, Equity in the Civil Law and the Common Law, 15 Am. J. Comp. L. 60 (1966-67). [footnote in original]

to inequitable conduct that does not violate substantive criteria of patentability or of entitlement to apply for patents. In addition, preventing such misuse will also require international recognition of disclosure obligations by all states, because the materials and information will originate in or the relevant inequitable conduct will occur in jurisdictions other than (or in addition to) those where intellectual property rights will be obtained. Traditionally, equitable principles and the law of remedies have been flexibly applied on a case-by case basis to assure that such inequitable conduct is not rewarded and that unjust enrichment does not occur. Nevertheless, given the recognized need for generally applicable rules in the access and benefit-sharing context, analysis of existing practices in regard to the application of equitable principles could be very useful. It would thus advance work to assure that these principles are adequately integrated into the intellectual property system in regards to genetic resources and traditional knowledge. Moreover, it might contribute to the CBD process by identifying specific legal measures to prevent intellectual property misuse that exist in various jurisdictions and that could be included in an international regime."

Summary of triggers for disclosure requirements

Triggers related to patentability of the invention as such

- (a) access to the GBMR is necessary to carry out or replicate the invention as claimed;
- (b) access to the GBMR is necessary to implement the preferred embodiment of the invention or other example given in the description of the patent;
- (c) the TK is prior art, known to the applicant, which is relevant to the assessment of whether the invention as claimed is novel and not obvious;

Triggers related to inventorship and entitlement to apply for a patent

- (d) TK was provided by a TK holder and is directly used in developing the invention, to the extent that the TK holder is a potential co-inventor;
- (e) The circumstances of access to the GBMR or TK are sufficient to establish a claim of ownership or entitlement to apply for a patent.
- (f) The invention makes immediate use of the genetic resource, that is, it depends on the specific properties of the resource (in particular, the functional units of heredity and the actual or potential value that define it *as* a genetic resource);
 - (i) The GBMR or TK forms part of the claimed invention;

Triggers relating to equitable principles and compliance with ABS measures

- (g) The GBMR or TK were used in the course of research that led to the invention, and were essential to deriving the invention;
- (h) The GBMR or TK were used in the course of research leading to the invention, but were only incidental to the attainment of the invention;

For example, in determining restitution, courts "resort to general considerations of fairness, taking into account the nature of the defendant's wrong, the relative extent of his or her contribution, and the feasibility of separating this from the contribution traceable to the plaintiff's interest." *Univ. of Colo. Foundation*, 342 F.3d at 1311 (*citing* 1 George E. Palmer, *The Law of Restitution* § 2.12 at 161 (1978)) [footnote in original]

- (j) The GBMR or TK was a necessary prerequisite for the development of the invention;
 - (k) The GBMR or TK was used to facilitate the development of the invention;
- (l) The GBMR or TK was necessary background material for the development of the invention:
- (m) The research leading to the invention, the attainment of the invention itself, or the act of filing the patent application, falls within the scope of an obligation incurred under a national biodiversity law or other access legislation, or under a specfic access permit, licence, agreement or contract;
- (n) Activities leading to the invention, the act of invention itself, or the act of applying for the invention, contravene equitable or ethical principles.

Procedural options

The procedural trigger creating an obligation for disclosure may in theory include:

- (a) initial filing of the application (a minimum documentation requirement);
- (b) a specific deadline after filing the application;
- (c) formal examination of the application;
- (d) substantive examination;
- (e) prior to grant or sealing of the patent;
- (f) during patent opposition or revocation proceedings (including counterclaims during enforcement proceedings); or
 - (g) when the patent right is asserted or enforced.

(see table above for further summary)

C. INCENTIVE MEASURES FOR APPLICANTS

- 147. The third element of the CBD COP invitation concerned options for incentive measures for applicants. The 'incentives measures' discussed include legal, economic, social and moral incentives. The possible objectives of incentives were variously construed as promoting:
 - compliance with disclosure requirements as such,
 - ensuring prior informed consent and equitable benefit sharing,
 - conservation and sustainable use of genetic resources, and conservation of TK, 83
 - innovation related to conservation and sustainable use, and
 - disclosure of new information to the public.
- 148. Article 11 of the CBD provides that each 'Contracting Party shall, as far as possible and as appropriate, adopt economically and socially sound measures that act as incentives for the conservation and sustainable use of components of biological diversity.' The general context of incentives may be illuminated by past COP decisions and continuing CBD work on

See the observation of the UNEP-WIPO study [...], Part I. [footnote in original]

incentive measures, whether or not they have direct bearing on the present examination. The COP has acknowledged 'the importance of incentive measures in achieving conservation and sustainable use of the components of biodiversity' and recognized that 'biodiversity provides global services to humankind that are not captured and adequately recognized by current economic relations, patterns and policies' (Decision V/15). COP Decision VI/15 endorsed a set of practical principles and guidelines for the design and implementation of incentive measures which, for instance, clarified 'goals of the incentive measures' as follows: 'consistent with decision V/15, the purpose of incentive measures is to change institutional and individual behaviour in order to achieve in whole or in part the following objectives of the CBD: the conservation of biodiversity, the sustainable use of the components of biodiversity and the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising out of the utilization of genetic resources.'

- 149. Incentives may need to be distinguished from consequences or outcomes such as an increased or decreased use of the patent system or from positive or negative externalities, which are defined as "a side-effect or consequence (of an industrial or commercial activity) which affects other parties without this being reflected in the cost of the goods or services involved; a social cost or benefit" (Oxford English Dictionary).
- 150. The UNEP-WIPO study does not represent the views of WIPO, its Member States or its Secretariat. If it is referred to as a background information resource only, in considering incentives relating to conservation, value-addition and innovation, it identifies four kinds of incentives, according to whether the nature of the benefit is material or non-material, and the target of the incentive is individual or collective. 84 It comments:
 - Incentives could be in cash or kind, conditional (linked to research) or unconditional;
 - Community incentives could be of a direct nature, or they could be indirect. They could be provided at a single point in time, or over an extended period of time;
 - Incentives could be provided by external agencies or by the local communities themselves. The improved status of the innovators on account of social recognition may, or may not, be associated with a greater say in decision making at the societal level; and
 - Incentives may focus on empowerment of local communities so that they may have better negotiating skills and better knowledge for conservation of local resources. Alternatively, the incentives may be targeted directly at conservation. Incentives targeted at the community may lead to action either at the community level or even at the individual level."
- 151. Comments and discussion also cover both 'positive' and 'negative' incentives referring respectively, to measures that reward desired actions, and measures that deter undesired actions. A number of both positive and negative incentive measures are discussed in the Member State submissions. Some submissions, and the work of CBD processes, also invoke the concept of 'perverse incentives.' This term strictly refers to measures that bring about the opposite effect from what they are intended to promote. A number of comments refer to the possible creation of perverse incentives in the context of promoting the objectives of the CBD within the patent system. In the context of the CBD, the COP has noted proposals concerning perverse incentives that stipulate that a "perverse incentive emanates from policies

-

See UNEP-WIPO study, footnote 8 at 41-42; note the comments there on this study's status and limitations.

or practices that encourage, either directly or indirectly, resource uses leading to the degradation and loss of biological diversity. The removal of such policies or practices or the mitigation of their perverse effects is therefore an important element in promoting the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity."

- 152. Brazil points out⁸⁵ that the CBD "does not endorse the 'perverse incentive' argument that a few countries have tried to use to oppose disclosure of origin proposals." It adds that "the currently existing patent system itself has not been able to prevent cases of misappropriation of genetic resources. The numerous documented cases of bad and questionable patents may suggest that 'perverse incentives' may be at play in the existing patent system that one should modify. In this regard, Brazil believes that a universal mandatory disclosure of origin requirement would prove an effective safeguard against misappropriation of genetic resources and associated traditional knowledge, and should, therefore, be seen as a measure destined to rectify a "perverse incentive" inherent to the existing patent system."
- 153. The submission of Belize is one that highlights both positive and negative incenstives. For instance, it proposed fee reductions at national patent offices and under the PCT system 'in order to encourage applicants to disclose the origins of the genetic material that is contained in their complete specifications.' But Belize also considered that the 'most effective incentive measure for applicants' would be the 'negative incentive invoked by the threat of revocation of a patent that was granted based on the non-disclosure or misleading disclosure of the source of the origins of the genetic material that is contained in the complete specification.'
- 154. The USA noted that 'patents provide a strong incentive for innovation' and 'an incentive to disclose new, useful and unobvious information to the public.' It cautioned that 'new disclosure requirements would detract from this incentive by making it more difficult for applicants to obtain a patent and by introducing uncertainties into patents.'
- 155. Brazil's submission outlines the legal effects of non-compliance with a proposed new requirement as follows:

"The proposed disclosure of origin requirement will have both formal and substantive components and implications. The nature of the legal effect of insufficient, wrongful or no disclosure of origin, and of evidence of prior informed consent and fair and equitable benefit sharing, will depend on whether one is dealing with a formal or substantive component of the disclosure and whether it is at the level of pre or post-grant. In this context, where the insufficient, wrongful or no disclosure is discovered before the examination or grant of a patent, the legal effect could be that the application would not be processed any further until the submission of the necessary disclosure declarations and evidence. This could be accompanied with penalties and time limits within which the proper disclosure declarations and evidence should be provided, otherwise the application could be deemed withdrawn. In essence, the insufficient, wrongful or no disclosure of the source and country of origin of the biological resources and/or traditional knowledge, as well as failure to provide evidence of prior informed consent and fair and equitable benefit sharing, should justify the non-processing of the application."

⁸⁵ Comments of Brazil on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

"Where the insufficient, wrongful or lack of disclosure of source and country of origin is discovered after the grant of a patent, the legal effect could include:

- Revocation of the patent where it is determined that the proper disclosure would have led to the refusal to grant the patent either on the grounds of lack of novelty due to the existence of prior art or on grounds of *ordre public* or morality and where there is fraudulent intention for the insufficient, wrongful or lack of disclosure. In addition to revocation, criminal and/or administrative sanctions may also be imposed, for example, where the insufficient, wrongful or lack of disclosure amounts to a false representation;
- Full or partial transfer of the rights to the invention where full disclosure would have shown that another person or community or governmental agency is the inventor or part inventor or would otherwise be entitled to all or part of the claimed invention; and,
- Narrowing the scope of the claims where parts of the claims are affected due to lack of novelty or fraudulent intention or where full disclosure would have led to refusal to admit those parts of the claims."

"Similarly, where the failure to provide evidence of prior informed consent is discovered after the grant of a patent, the legal effect could include:

- Revocation of the patent. In addition to revocation, criminal and/or administrative sanctions may also follow, outside the patent system, in particular, to ensure adequate compensation where it is eventually determined that no prior informed consent was obtained;
- Criminal and/or civil sanctions, including the possibility of punitive damages, could follow, again outside the patent system, where it is determined that the patent holder in fact obtained prior informed but did not provide the evidence in the application.

Additionally, sanctions should also apply in cases of failure to provide evidence of fair and equitable benefit sharing. These shall be elaborated upon at a later time. While a certain level of leeway may be given here on the exact legal effect for each infraction, every State should nevertheless have an obligation to ensure that the effect of insufficient, wrongful or lack of disclosure, and/or of failure to provide evidence of prior informed consent and fair and equitable benefit sharing, is effective in terms of its deterrent, compensatory and equity value."

156. The EC and its Member States comment that "meaningful and workable sanctions should be attached to the provision of incorrect or incomplete information. Where it is proved that the patent applicant has disclosed incorrect or incomplete information, effective, proportionate and dissuasive sanctions outside the field of patent law should be imposed on the patent applicant or holder. If the applicant provides supplementary information during the processing of the application, the submission of this supplementary information should not affect the further processing of the application. For reasons of legal certainty, the submission of incorrect or incomplete information should not have any effect on the validity of the granted patent or on its enforceability against patent infringers. It must be left to the

individual Contracting State to determine the character and the level of these sanctions, in accordance with domestic legal practices and respecting general principles of law. Both within WIPO as in other international fora means could be discussed to develop such sanctions."

157. Colombia proposes that the main incentive for timely disclosure is that 'without the fulfillment of this requirement the patent may not be granted. Even where the patent is granted, it would be likely to be invalidated.' A further incentive would be more rapid treatment of the application. In addition, 'the applicant would have legal security for his patent' since 'the patent application will be much clearer and more precise, and consequently so will the subject matter of the applicant's right.' Colombia indicates that recognition would be given to 'the legal work done and to that which benefits nature, with mechanisms including those whereby the applicant and/or holder has the opportunity to promote his invention as biodiversity friendly.' In the event that an applicant or patent owner has made 'unlawful use of the genetic resources of a Party, without satisfying the requirements of Article 15 of the CBD, each Party will establish compensation mechanisms such as the following, in order to legalize use in the countries which are party to the CBD: (a) the applicant must pay royalties from the date on which the patent application was submitted for the use of the inventions derived from said genetic resources; and (b) the applicant shall recognize the use of the genetic resource and the place of origin in the description of the patent application and/or on the label attached to the product, claimed in said application and/or patent, for marketing purposes.

158. In the view of Switzerland, the sanctions currently allowed for under the PCT and the PLT should apply to failure to disclose or wrongful disclosure of the source of genetic resources and traditional knowledge in patent applications. Accordingly, if the national law applicable by the designated Office requires the declaration of the source of genetic resources and traditional knowledge, Rule 51bis.3(a) of the PCT Regulations requires the designated Office to invite the applicant, at the beginning of the national phase, to comply with the disclosure requirement within a time limit which shall not be less than two months from the date of the invitation. If the patent applicant does not comply with this invitation within the set time limit, the designated Office may refuse the application or consider it withdrawn on the grounds of this non-compliance. If, however, the applicant submitted with the international application or later during the international phase the proposed declaration containing standardized wording relating to the declaration of the source (see proposal by Switzerland for new subpara. (vi) of Rule 4.17), the designated Office must accept this declaration and may not require any further document or evidence relating to the source declared, unless it may reasonably doubt the veracity of the declaration concerned. Furthermore, if it is discovered after the granting of a patent that the applicant failed to disclose the source or submitted false information, such failure to comply with the disclosure requirement may not be a ground for revocation or invalidation of the granted patent, except in the case of fraudulent intention (Article 10 PLT). However, other sanctions provided for in national law, including criminal sanctions such as fines, may be imposed.⁸⁶

Cooperation-based incentives:

159. Japan reports that on the basis of CBD-related cooperation with other countries and variuos scientific and commercial projects, it has found that "companies have a sense of

⁸⁶ Comments by Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

responsibility and conduct fair and equitable benefit sharing with providers of genetic resources. Moreover, companies are willing to promote and undertake genetic resource-based research projects with providers of genetic resources with whom conditions can be arranged for the proper implementation of contracts based on mutual understanding and trust ... the steady progress of these approaches will help to materialize access to genetic resources and fair and equitable benefit-sharing based on the spirit of CBD."

Possible undesirable or perverse incentives

- 160. Japan observes that "huge risks and increases of cost adversely affect business. This is particularly true in business sectors that require very substantial monetary expenditures and long-term R&D to earn profits, and, if stringent regulations to take out genetic resources are introduced and unpredictable procedures caused cost increases, the business sector will hesitate to use genetic resources. As a result, there is little, by way of benefits, to share with providers of genetic resources." Japan further specifies that "if the disclosure the source/country of origin of genetic resources in a patent application should be made an obligation, it would increase the burden of applicants applying for a patent for an invention based on genetic resources because there would be an additional risk where a patent would be invalidated only on the grounds that disclosure requirements were not met. In cases in which an applicant could not immediately specify the source/country of origin of a genetic resource (e.g. a corporation directly purchased the resource from a genetic resource traders or researchers exchanged genetic resources through a network of researchers), an applicant would have to directly investigate the source/country of origin of the genetic resources. Such a burden might discourage inventors from conducting research into inventions based on genetic resources due to the huge expense or from obtaining a patent for such inventions. As a result, fewer and fewer genetic resources would be utilized, and, in the end, access to genetic resources as well as fair and equitable benefit-sharing would not be facilitated."
- 161. Japan added⁸⁷ that "where evidences for a prior informed consent or fair/equitable benefits sharing are to be disclosed in a patent application, contracts can be counted as possible evidence. A contract normally contains much information such as trade secrets, which the applicant does not want others to know. If the contents of a contract are to be made open in a patent application, this will not only simply lead to an increased workload but also involve the risk of disclosing important trade secrets. In the end, therefore, the incentive to carry out R&D activities using genetic resources is substantially reduced."
- 162. Australia observes that 'if these broad parameters (see paragraph 112 above) are not met in relation to proposed patent disclosure regimes then it is possible that unintended consequences may arise that would discourage research and innovation and risk undermining the objectives of a patent disclosure regime. For example, the invalidation or non-grant of patent rights could directly undercut any capacity to share benefits, as without the benefits that can accrue from strong patent rights the benefits to potential access providers could be dramatically reduced or nullified. Similarly without a valid patent right, individuals can still commercialise their IP without any obligation to disclose their invention to the public or to share the benefits unless there is an underlying regime ensuring benefit sharing.'

Comments of Japan on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

163. Bearing in mind the objectives of the CBD, a broader conception of incentives may involve consideration of how the IP system would contribute to the objectives of conservation, sustainable use and equitable benefit-sharing holistically. For example, an independent study commissioned by UNEP and WIPO observed that 'increased erosion of biodiversity and associated TK will clearly not be halted by documentation. This is particularly true for genetic resources, which co-evolve with human societies over a long period of time. The in-situ conservation of wild, as well as agro-biodiversity suddenly becomes important. In the absence of various incentives, it is unlikely to take place. My suggestion is that IP provide an important means for strengthening the range of incentives that local communities need for conserving genetic resources and associate TK. In fact, IP can also provide incentives for augmenting this knowledge and resource base. The Honey Bee Network has documented many examples of plant varieties being developed by local farmers, using traditional methods and knowledge systems. In the absence of adequate mechanisms to provide protection for such efforts, proper incentives are not yet available to encourage more people to pursue such innovations. The ultimate test of any incentive system is whether it can nurture and augment the spirit of experimentation, exploration and sharing, so evident in traditional communities over the years. We need to find ways of ensuring that the value system of many of these communities does not become a reason for their remaining poor, and thus, ultimately, eroding their vitally important knowledge and resource base.'

164. CIEL observes that developing "additional legal, economic, social and moral incentives in the context of the CBD to comply with disclosure requirements, as well as determining how those incentives relate to the broader framework established by Article 11 of the CBD, are issues that undoubtedly the CBD is best poised to address. [WIPO/GR/IP/05/01], in this regard, adequately distinguishes the incentives that may be developed in the CBD context from the consequences or outcomes of non-compliance with disclosure requirements that should be incorporated in international patent rules. 88 [WIPO/GR/IP/05/01] rightly considers the discussion of incentives should involve consideration of how the intellectual property system should contribute to the objectives of conservation, sustainable use and equitable benefit-sharing. ⁸⁹ [WIPO/GR/IP/05/01] fails to emphasize, however, the need to advance the introduction of disclosure requirements in international intellectual property rules with significant sanctions for non-compliance and thus ensure the intellectual property system is not misused to further inequitable conduct. Indeed, it is the various consequences of failure to provide required disclosures, including loss or revocation, transfer, and narrowing of patent rights, that should be highlighted, while the potential use of intellectual property rights in themselves as an incentive for the conservation of genetic resources and traditional knowledge, mentioned in paragraph 128 of [WIPO/GR/IP/05/01], is an issue clearly outside the scope of the CBD request and thus of the WIPO response to that request."90

Summary of incentives

Nature of incentives: legal, economic, social and moral.

Behaviour that may be encouraged by incentives:

- conservation and sustainable use of genetic resources, and conservation of TK
- equitable sharing of benefits

See [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1], at paragraph 117 [footnote in original].

Id. at paragraph 128 [footnote in original].

Comments by CIEL on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

- obtaining prior informed consent
- confidence in equitable basis for sharing TK or GBMR
- greater cooperation and partnership with custodians of TK and GBMR
- innovation related to conservation and sustainable use
- compliance with laws or contractual obligations in country of origin
- conformity with guidelines or other standards
- incentives to disclose new information to the public.

Positive incentives:

- benefits an applicant obtains from greater legal security concerning the legitimacy of the application and granted patent
 - enhanced and less burdensome avenues for further cooperation and access
 - enhanced basis for dealing with the patented technology
 - reduced fees
 - recognition that an invention is biodiversity-friendly
 - benefits from a positive public perception concerning the use of the GBMR or TK

Negative incentives

- fines, imprisonment or criminal penalties for false declarations
- refusal or invalidation of patent, or incapacity to enforce patent rights
- full or partial transfer of ownership of patent
- applicant's original use of GMRM or TK would infringe the patent once ownership transferred

'Perverse' or undesirable incentives

- discouraging disclosure of invention through patent system, favouring use of trade secrets
- discouraging sustainable use of GR
- invalidation leading to more widespread use of invention by third parties, without equitable benefit-sharing with provider
- costs of legal unpredictability or uncertainty
- disclosure of exact origin prejudicial to conservation of rare but valuable species
- disclosure of secret or sacred TK that is constrained by customary law or confidentiality constraints
- lack of a mandatory universal disclosure of origin obligation provides a perverse incentive for misappropriation within the patent system. ⁹¹

Omments of Brazil on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

D. IMPLICATIONS FOR WIPO TREATIES

- 165. Element (d) of the CBD invitation concerned 'identification of the implications for the functioning of disclosure requirements in various WIPO-administered treaties.' WIPO-administered treaties that may be relevant to such measures include the Paris Convention, the PLT, and the Patent Cooperation Treaty. Some relevant provisions are set out and discussed in the Technical Study (Section VII). The Technical Study also mentioned relevant provisions in the WTO TRIPS Agreement, although WIPO is not legally competent to interpret that agreement. Current treaty-related proposals within WIPO that are of direct relevance to this examination include the negotiations on a draft Substantive Patent Law Treaty (SPLT) and the Swiss proposal to amend the Regulations under the PCT; brief details of these proposals are set out in Part II above. The question of specific disclosure requirements was also considered in the preparations for the conclusion of the PLT.
- 166. One question that arises in considering the treaty implications of any disclosure or other ABS-relevant legal measures is their status as either 'formal' or 'substantive' measures. This is relevant for the PLT and the PCT, as these aim to regulate formalities only. The discussion of this question in the Technical Study is summarized briefly here:
- 167. Patent applications contain a combination of technical, legal and administrative information. Under national and regional patent law and related laws (and in line with established international standards), patent applicants are typically required to furnish information in four general areas:
- (a) Information that enables a person skilled in the art to carry out the claimed invention, and in some laws the disclosure of the best mode of carrying out the invention known by the inventor at the relevant date. ⁹² For inventions involving a new microorganism, the disclosure obligation may also entail deposit of the microorganism itself; ⁹³
- (b) information that defines the matter for which protection is sought (a claim or claims);
- (c) other information relevant to the determination of novelty, inventive step or non-obviousness, and capability of industrial application or utility of the claimed invention, including search reports, and other known prior art;⁹⁴
- (d) administrative or bibliographic information relevant to the claimed patent right, such as the name of the inventor, address for service, details of priority documents, etc.
- 168. These requirements are generally characterized as 'formal' or 'substantive,' and there is a distinction in the PCT and PLT systems between substantive patent law and requirements concerning the 'form or contents' of an application. This is an important distinction in the context of the current discussion, and a distinction that is not always clearly articulated. A reference to 'formality requirements' may apply to the need to disclose information (such as

TRIPS Article 29.2 provides that "Members may require an applicant for a patent to provide information concerning the applicant's corresponding foreign applications and grants."

For example, TRIPS Article 29.1 provides that: "[WTO] Members shall require that an applicant for a patent shall disclose the invention in a manner sufficiently clear and complete for the invention to be carried out by a person skilled in the art and may require the applicant to indicate the best mode for carrying out the invention known to the inventor at the filing date or, where priority is claimed, at the priority date of the application."

See the Budapest Treaty on the International Recognition of the Deposit of Microorganisms for the Purposes of Patent Procedure (1977); this requirement applies in some countries to biological resources in general – see the discussion below in paragraph 45.

names of inventor(s) and addresses) or to the need to submit certain documents (such as priority documents – i.e. copies and translations of foreign patent applications that form the basis of a claim to priority); 'formality requirements' may also refer to the physical format (layout on the page, size of paper, etc.). 'Substantive requirements' generally refers to the actual nature of the invention as such, and whether it meets the standards set for patentability ('substantive' law may also be relevant, however, in determining such questions as inventorship, entitlement to apply for or to be granted a patent, and other interests in a patent right, quite apart from the qualities of the invention as such). The distinction between substantive and formal requirements is often considered in terms of consequences of non-compliance (in particular, failure to comply with substantive requirements such as novelty renders a patent invalid), failure to meet certain formality requirements may nonetheless be fatal for a patent application, especially if it is not rectified in time.

169. The obligation on an applicant to provide information can therefore be considered under two aspects – compliance with formal requirements, and compliance with substantive requirements. For example, where a patent application is required to identify the inventor or inventors, this may be considered as a formality requirement (in that an application will generally not be accepted if there is no mention of a claimed inventor), but determining the identity of the inventor also entails a substantive legal judgement, and indeed forms the basis of the entitlement to a patent right. An incorrect or incomplete indication of the inventor may lead to transfer or invalidation of the patent right. Similarly, it is also a formal requirement that a patent application should include a description of the invention, but this description must also meet specific substantive standards if the patent application is to be accepted (or if a granted patent is to be valid).

170. International standards that apply to the patent system have bearing both on formalities and substantive aspects of the requirements placed on an applicant. This distinction can be illustrated by reference to the requirements specified for applications to be accorded a filing date by the patent authority receiving the application. Such requirements are considered to be 'formalities' rather than substantive requirements. For instance, it is generally mandatory to submit an apparent description of the invention before a filing date is accorded to a patent application; at this stage no judgement is made as to the substantive content of the description, but the application is accepted for processing because it meets the formality requirement when it simply appears that a description has been submitted. Patent applications may subsequently be examined to assess whether the application accords with substantive requirements, such as the requirement that the invention as claimed be novel, involve an inventive step (or be non-obvious), and be industrially applicable, ⁹⁵ and the requirement that the description be sufficient and the claims be supported by it. At this stage, the description may be assessed as to its substantive compliance with legal requirements, as against formal compliance.

171. For instance, in relation to descriptions, the PLT (Article 5(1)(a)) identifies, as a formality requirement, 'a part which on the face of it appears to be a description' as one of the elements that forms part of an application sufficient to establish a filing date. The PCT Article 3(2) similarly requires that an international application shall contain a description, among other elements required for establishing a filing date, but it also sets a substantive standard for the description, specifying that it "shall disclose the invention in a manner sufficiently clear and complete for the invention to be carried out by a person skilled in the

⁹⁵ PCT Article 33(1) and TRIPS Article 27(1).

art." (Article 5) This substantive requirement is mirrored in TRIPS, Article 28, which makes it mandatory for WTO Members to "require that an applicant for a patent shall disclose the invention in a manner sufficiently clear and complete for the invention to be carried out by a person skilled in the art..." Some international standards are permissive rather than mandatory, in other words clarifying optional requirements that may be imposed on a patent applicant. Hence TRIPS indicates that WTO Members "may require the applicant to indicate the best mode for carrying out the invention known to the inventor," leaving this in effect as an optional additional requirement for a patent application to meet. The PCT Regulations (Rule 5.1(v)) provides that the description should: "set forth at least the best mode contemplated by the applicant for carrying out the invention claimed; this shall be done in terms of examples, where appropriate, and with reference to the drawings, if any; where the national law of the designated State does not require the description of the best mode but is satisfied with the description of any mode (whether it is the best contemplated or not), failure to describe the best mode contemplated shall have no effect in that State."

Provisions of WIPO treaties

Paris Convention

172. The Paris Convention lays down certain core principles that apply to national patent laws. For instance, Article 2 has the effect of applying the principle of national treatment to patent law:

"Nationals of any country of the [Paris] Union shall, as regards the protection of industrial property, enjoy in all the other countries of the Union the advantages that their respective laws now grant, or may hereafter grant, to nationals; all without prejudice to the rights specially provided for by this Convention. Consequently, they shall have the same protection as the latter, and the same legal remedy against any infringement of their rights, provided that the conditions and formalities imposed upon nationals are complied with."

This means that no disclosure requirement should be applied more advantageously to domestic nationals who are applying for or who hold patent rights, as compared to foreign nationals.

- 173. Article 4bis of the Paris Convention provides for the independence of patents obtained for the same invention in different countries "in an unrestricted sense," which includes independence "as regards the grounds for nullity and forfeiture." Article 4ter establishes the right of the inventor "to be mentioned as such in the patent," a disclosure mechanism that may be relevant to the present issue.
- 174. Article 4 *quater* requires that the basis for refusal or invalidation of a patent should not include "the ground that the sale of the patented product or of a product obtained by means of a patented process is subject to restrictions or limitations resulting from the domestic law." For instance, whether or not a particular technology has been approved for use should not be the basis for refusal. This expresses a distinction between the authorization to market a product, and the determination of the validity of a patent relating to the product, a distinction that may be a background consideration for some disclosure requirements that effectively create new substantive grounds for patent validity.

Patent Law Treaty

175. The PLT establishes standards for formalities and procedure with respect to national (regional) patent applications filed with national (regional) offices, and to international applications under the PCT once they enter the so-called "national phase." The PLT "does not establish a completely uniform procedure for all Contracting Parties, but provides assurance for applications and owners that, for example, an application that complies with the maximum requirements permitted under the Treaty and Regulations will comply with formal requirement applied by any Contracting Party." Article 2(2), entitled "No Regulation of Substantive Patent Law," provides that "(n)othing in this Treaty or the Regulations is intended to be construed as prescribing anything that would limit the freedom of a Contracting Party to prescribe such requirements of the applicable substantive law relating to patents as it desires."

176. The PLT does nonetheless contain several provisions that may be relevant to the formality or procedural aspects of disclosure requirements. For instance, this may apply to the establishment of a filing date of an application. Article 5(1), entitled "Elements of Application" effectively requires that an applicant should be accorded a filing date if he or she has submitted to a patent office: "(i) an express or implicit indication to the effect that the elements are intended to be an application; (ii) indications allowing the identity of the applicant to be established or allowing the applicant to be contacted by the Office; (iii) a part which on the face of it appears to be a description." For instance, patent claims, which are fundamentally important both to the validity and to the legal effect of the patent right, need not be filed in the first instance for a patent application to be accorded a filing date. Similarly, the identity of the inventor, the disclosure of which may be required, need not be provided at the time of filing.

177. While this is essentially a question of filing formalities, it may have significant implications for some disclosure requirements. For example, discussion of disclosure requirements has suggested a strong form or requirement that would seem to entail failure to accord a filing date to an application unless it was submitted already with evidence of compliance with GBMR/TK access laws: "Applications unaccompanied by such documentation [official documentation from provider countries proving that genetic resources and associated TK] would automatically be returned to the applicants for re-submission with the relevant documentation." This approach would suggest that the application would not be received and given a filing date without detailed documentation proving that GBMR/TK with some relationship with the patent application had been legitimately obtained. Such a requirement would be at odds with provisions such as those in the PLT that set standards for securing a filing date. Practically, it is also difficult to see how a determination could be made as to whether a declaration of GBMR/TK might be relevant without a claim of the patented invention (assuming some form of relationship must be established between the GBMR/TK and the invention as claimed to trigger the disclosure requirement), and yet an application can initially be accepted without submission of claims altogether – the claims forming the crucial element of interpreting the effective scope of the invention.

Paragraph 2.01, Explanatory Notes on the PLT and Regulations under the PLT, WIPO Publication No. 258, 2000: prepared "for explanatory purposes only."

Dutfield, Graham, "Protecting Traditional Knowledge and Folklore: A review of progress in diplomacy and policy formulation," http://www.ictsd.org/unctad-ictsd, 2002, p. 25 (emphasis added).

178. As noted above, the PLT also makes provision for the form and contents of patent applications and aligns these with the requirements of the PCT. WIPO document SCP/6/5 gives a detailed account of the interface between the PLT and PCT. The explanatory notes on the PLT⁹⁸ comment that Article 6(1) of the PLT applies the requirements relating to the form and contents of international applications under the PCT to national and regional applications. The wording of this provision is modeled after that of PCT Article 27(1). It is implicit that the expression form and contents of an application is to be construed in the same way as the expression in that Article. The Notes to that Article in the [relevant diplomatic records] contain the following explanation:

"The words *form or contents* are used merely to emphasize something that could go without saying, namely that requirements of substantive patent law (criteria of patentability, etc.) are not meant."

179. The explanatory notes give illustrative examples as follows: "(t)he requirement, allowed under Article 29.2 of the TRIPS Agreement, that an applicant for a patent provide information concerning the applicant's foreign applications and grants, is not a requirement as to the "form or contents of an application" for the purposes of this provision. Similarly, requirements in respect of duty of disclosure, indications as to whether an application was prepared with the assistance of an invention marketing company and, if so, indications of the name and address of that company and requirements in relation to the disclosure of search results on related applications and patents, are also not requirements as to the "form or contents of an application" for the purposes of this provision. Further, requirements as to the "form or contents of an application" do not include any requirements relating to foreign investments, public concessions or public contracts under national laws and bilateral and multilateral agreements."

180. Given that "in practice, different Contracting States have differing views" on the issue of the distinction between substantive requirements and requirements as to form and contents, there is a degree of uncertainty and ambiguity as to how to draw this line. However, since the question has been avoided in the context of the PCT, it is deemed inappropriate for the PLT to strictly define a matter under the PCT which has intentionally been left ambiguous in the context of the PCT itself. Equally, the nature of substantive standards is not prescribed within the PLT. There are two general areas of substantive law that are directly related to the grant of a patent: the eligibility of the disclosed invention itself for patent protection (its conformity with the definition of a patentable invention and with other patentability criteria), and the entitlement of the applicant to be granted the patent (inventorship, nature of the assignment of the right, etc.) Other areas of substantive law may not be directly relevant to the grant or validity of the patent as such – examples of such other areas are noted in the extract above, for instance foreign investment, public concessions or public contracts.

181. Article 10 of the PLT, entitled "Validity of Patent; Revocation" is also relevant to the present draft study, and has already been discussed above, particularly in relation to the nature

¹⁰¹ *Ibid*.

Paragraphs 6.01 and 6.02, Explanatory Notes on the PLT and Regulations under the PLT, WIPO Publication No. 258(E), also provided as Annex I to WIPO document SCP/6/5.

op. cit. paragraph 6.03 and Annex I to WIPO document SCP/6/5.

Document SCP/6/5, paragraph 8.

of consequences of non-compliancewith formal requirements. Article 10(1) provides that "non-compliance with one or more of the formal requirements referred to in Articles 6(1), (2), (4) and (5) and 8(1) to (4) with respect to an application may not be a ground for revocation or invalidation of a patent, either totally or in part, except where the non-compliance with the formal requirement occurred as a result of a fraudulent intention." Article 10(2) provides that "a patent may not be revoked or invalidated, either totally or in part, without the owner being given the opportunity to make observations on the intended revocation or invalidation, and to make amendments and corrections where permitted under the applicable law, within a reasonable time limit."

The Patent Cooperation Treaty

- 182. Because of the linkage between the two treaties that was consciously adopted during the PLT negotiations, the PCT itself is significant both in terms of determining the standards that apply to international applications (including the processing of international applications within national jurisdictions), and in terms of interpreting the PLT.
- 183. The PCT system is a patent filing system, not a patent granting system. It provides for an *international phase*, comprising filing of the international application, international search, international publication and international preliminary examination; and a subsequent *national phase* before designated national or regional patent offices, which process international applications as national or regional patent applications. The decision on granting or refusing patents is taken exclusively by national or regional offices in the national phase. Nonetheless, the PCT has the effect of harmonizing procedural and administrative matters, including the form and contents of patent applications.
- 184. PCT provisions may therefore be relevant to disclosure issues both in the international phase and in relation to national requirements concerning the form or contents of international applications. The requirements for the form or contents for the international application are set out in the Treaty itself, and the Regulations established under the PCT these were discussed above in the review of disclosure obligations generally. In brief, the PCT specifies that an "international application shall contain … a request, a description, one or more claims, one or more drawings (where required), and an abstract." The nature of each of these elements is specified in some detail in the Treaty and Regulations.
- 185. Concerning the national phase, Article 27 of the PCT provides that "(n)o national law shall require compliance with requirements relating to the form or contents of the international application different from or additional to those which are provided for in this Treaty and the Regulations" but that this does not "preclude any national law from requiring, once the processing of the international application has started in the designated Office, the furnishing ... of documents not part of the international application but which constitute proof of allegations or statements made in that application..." The same Article provides that nothing in the PCT or its Regulations "is intended to be construed as prescribing anything that would limit the freedom of each Contracting State to prescribe such substantive conditions of patentability as it desires" and that "national law may require that the applicant furnish evidence in respect of any substantive condition of patentability prescribed by such law."
- 186. PCT Rule 51 *bis* elaborates on Article 27 and specifies (at 51 *bis*(i)(a)) that "the national law applicable by the designated Office may ... require the applicant to furnish, in particular: (i) any document relating to the identity of the inventor, (ii) any document relating to the applicant's entitlement to apply for or be granted a patent," as well as information in certain

circumstances concerning priority documentation, oath or declaration of inventorship, and evidence concerning non-prejudicial disclosures or exceptions to lack of novelty.

- 187. Potentially, and depending on the applicable national law, "any document relating to the applicant's entitlement to apply for be granted a patent" could concern issues such as whether the applicant is party to a legal agreement (such as a materials transfer agreement) concerning inputs to the inventive process that affected the applicant's legal entitlement to apply or to hold a granted patent. A PCT applicant may be required under national law to provide a declaration concerning their entitlement to apply for and be granted a patent (in the case of the majority of designated States): this can be complied with already upon filing or at a later stage during the international phase (by providing the appropriate declaration), or upon or after entry into the national phase before the designated Offices concerned. Where the designated Office "may reasonably doubt the veracity of the indications or declaration concerned" it can require documents or evidence concerning the applicant's entitlement and concerning the identity of the inventor.
- 188. The PCT system has specific provisions relevant to disclosure requirements in the form of deposit of biological materials and nucleotide or amino acid sequence listings. Rule 13bis.1 defines "reference to deposited biological material" as "particulars given in an international application with respect to the deposit of biological material with a depositary institution or to the biological material so deposited." Rule 13bis.2 stipulates how such references should be made (as discussed above, paragraph 103) and provides that "if so made, [a reference] shall be considered as satisfying the requirements of the national law of each designated State." Rule 13ter, concerning nucleotide and/or amino acid sequence listings, effectively requires that such listings be provided according to the standards set out in the PCT Administrative Instructions, including submission in machine readable form. The consequence of failing to submit the listing within a certain time limit is that the international search would not be required to cover that application to the extent that failure to submit the information in the prescribed form prevents a meaningful search from being carried out. During the national/regional phase, a designated Office cannot require a sequence listing other than a listing in accordance with the standards provided in the Administrative Instructions.
- 189. The PCT currently does not have a mechanism for a distinct declaration concerning source of GBMR/TK as a separate element of the form or content of an international application, or as an additional national requirement relating to the form or content of an international application. The PCT stipulates that it is not "intended to be construed as prescribing anything that would limit the freedom of each Contracting State to prescribe such substantive conditions of patentability as it desires." This clearly applies to patentability of the invention as such. However, the entitlement of the applicant to apply for and be granted a patent is also a matter of substantive law, distinct from the technical patentability of the invention as such, but potentially at least as important in terms of the ultimate ownership and exercise of the patent.
- 190. As set out in detail in Part II above, Switzerland has proposed an amendment to the PCT Regulations to provide explicitly for the entitlement to impose a disclosure requirement.

General guidance on indentifying the implications for WIPO treaties

- 191. The Islamic Republic of Iran observed that 'it is not clear which body or bodies have the main responsibility for the identification of the implications for the functioning of disclosure requirements in various WIPO-administered treaties' and that the 'method of identifying the implications ... should be decided upon by the Member States.'
- 192. Brazil observes that 'the proposals for a mandatory, universal, disclosure of origin requirement may have implications for WIPO-administered treaties, as well as treaties under negotiation. Many of these implications have not yet been fully discussed by WIPO Member States. Discussions, nevertheless, have taken place on the matter in the context of the PLT, the PCT and the draft SPLT. Brazil has made specific proposals with respect to the draft SPLT in the SCP and has, moreover, expressed itself on the issue of disclosure of origin, in the context of the PCT, in past sessions of the Working Group on Reform of the PCT, as well as in the WIPO General Assembly.'
- 193. The EC and its Member States comment that 'the introduction of [a disclosure requirement] should take place in an efficient and timely way, and be related to the existing international legal framework for patents. In order to achieve such a binding disclosure requirement, amendment of the Patent Law Treaty (PLT), the Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) and, as the case may be, regional agreements such as the EPC will be necessary. The disclosure requirement then applies to all international, regional and national patent applications at the earliest stage possible.'
- 194. Colombia indicates that 'national intellectual property authorities will cooperate with the WIPO Secretariat in the exchange of information on patent applications and patents granted for inventions, based on the use of biological and genetic resources, and their derived products, with a view to appropriate fulfillment of the requirement of disclosure, to be established in the PCT, PLT and draft SPLT. Disclosure mechanisms in these treaties 'would provide an incentive for greater participation by the megadiverse countries in the treaties ... there would be a greater flow of biotechnology applications, and above all there would be greater confidence in the system on the part of developing countries, since there would no longer be a sense of exploitation but of cooperation.'
- 195. Concerning the PLT, the EC and its Member States note that the PLT is "aimed at the streamlining and harmonizing the procedures in the patent examination process, and in Article 5, stipulates the following.
 - A Contracting Party shall provide that the filing date of an application shall be the date on which its Office has received all of the following elements, filed, at the option of the applicant, on paper or as otherwise permitted by the Office for the purposes of the filing date:
 - (i) an express or implicit indication to the effect that the elements are intended to be an application;
 - (ii) indications allowing the identity of the applicant to be established or allowing the applicant to be contacted by the Office;
 - (iii) a part which on the face of it appears to be a description.

From the aspect of formality, therefore, disclosure the source/country of origin of genetic resources is not necessary."

196. Concerning the TRIPS Agreement (not a WIPO-administered treaty), Japan comments that Article 27.1 of TRIPS 'stipulates that "patents shall be available and patent rights enjoyable without discrimination as to the place of invention, the field of technology...." Therefore, if disclosure requirements are made applicable only to genetic resource-related inventions, and invalidation of patents for such inventions is made allowable on the basis of lack of disclosure requirement, the adoption of these requirements could be considered as falling under the scope of "discrimination as to the field of technology."

197. Switzerland comments on the relevant treaties administered by WIPO, and the context of its own proposals to revise the PCT Regulations, as follows:

The policy objective of the disclosure requirement is to increase transparency in the context of access to genetic resources and traditional knowledge and the sharing of the benefits arising out of their utilization. To achieve this policy objective, the disclosure requirement has to be examined for the purposes of determining if a complete patent application has been filed. However, this policy objective neither requires nor justifies that the disclosure requirement is linked to the search, examination or grant of patents, or to the evaluation of the claims for patentability. Accordingly, it has to be considered as a formal requirement.

Due to the formal nature of the disclosure requirement, Switzerland considers the PCT and the Patent Law Treaty (PLT) to be in the foreground with regard to the disclosure of the source of genetic resources and traditional knowledge in patent applications. Both treaties are administered by WIPO and deal with the formal aspects of international (PCT) and national and regional (PLT) patent applications.

According to Art. 27.1 of the PCT, "[n]o national law shall require compliance with requirements relating to the form or contents of the international application different from or additional to those which are provided for in this treaty and the regulations." In this regard, Rules 4.1 and 51*bis*.1 of the Regulations under the PCT are of particular importance:

Rule 4.1 enumerates the mandatory and optional contents of the request of an international patent application. According to Rule 4.1(c)(iii), such request may contain "declarations as provided in Rule 4.17." Rule 4.17 deals with certain declarations that are required by national laws in accordance with Rule 51bis.1(a). Rule 4.17 permits applicants to include in the request certain declarations corresponding to the matters set out in Rule 51bis.1(a)(i) to (v), relating to which designated Offices may require evidence or documents. According to Rule 4.18(a), "[t]he request shall contain no matter other than that specified in rules 4.1 to 4.17 [...]"; furthermore, Rule 4.18(b) requires the receiving Office to delete ex officio any such additional matter.

Present Rule 51*bis*.1 lists in subparas. (a) to (f) a number of matters relating to which the applicant may be required to furnish documents or evidence under the national law applicable by the designated Office. This rule provides clarity for both applicants and designated Offices that such items may be required to be furnished by the applicant under the national law applicable by the designated Office.

The current Rule 4 of the Regulations under the PCT does not require the declaration of the source of genetic resources and/or traditional knowledge in

international patent applications. Furthermore, Rule 4 prevents patent applicants submitting an international patent application from voluntarily including any such information as part of the PCT procedure, except in the specification, that is, the description, of the invention. Furthermore, Rule 51bis.1, as currently worded, does not expressly mention the possibility of designated Offices to require the applicant to furnish information on the source of genetic resources and/or traditional knowledge under the national law applicable by the designated Office. Art. 6.1 of the PLT, which deals with the form and contents of national patent applications, states that "[e]xcept where otherwise provided for by this Treaty, no Contracting Party shall require compliance with any requirement relating to the form or contents of an application different from or additional to:

(i) the requirements relating to form or contents which are provided for in respect of international applications under the Patent Cooperation Treaty; (ii) the requirements relating to form or contents compliance with which, under the Patent Cooperation Treaty, may be required by the Office of, or acting for, any State party to that Treaty once the processing or examination of an international application, as referred to in Article 23 or 40 of the said Treaty, has started[.]"

In this context, Rules 4.1 and 51 bis.1 of the Regulations under the PCT are of particular importance.

Art. 10 of the PLT states that "[n]on-compliance with one or more of the formal requirements referred to in Articles 6(1) [...] with respect to an application may not be a ground for revocation or invalidation of a patent, either totally or in part, except where the noncompliance with the formal requirement occurred as a result of a fraudulent intention." The validity of granted patents is thus not affected should the patent applicant not comply with the formal requirements enumerated in Art. 6.1. The only exception to this general rule is where such non-complianceresults from fraudulent intention. Art. 10 of the PLT, however, only applies once a patent is granted, whereas it does not apply to the national patent granting procedure as such. Art. 10 does therefore not prevent Contracting Parties of the PLT from introducing sanctions for non-compliance with formal requirements prior to the granting of a patent (see Art. 6.8 of the PLT).

198. Concerning various WIPO-administered treaties and the TRIPS Agreement, the United States of America advises that these treaties "require disclosure requirements that are material to the determination of basic patentability standards (e.g., novelty, non-obviousness, enablement, utility). PCT Article 5 requires that a patent description disclose the invention in a manner sufficiently clear and concise for the invention to be carried out by a person skilled in the art. PLT Article 5 requires a submission, which on its face appears to be a description of the invention, in order to obtain a filing date. Under TRIPS Article 29 WTO Members must require that patent applicants disclose the invention in a manner sufficiently clear and complete for the invention to be carried out by a person skilled in the art. WTO Members may also require that applicants indicate the best mode for carrying out the invention known to the inventor at the filing date, or where priority is claimed, at the priority date of the application. On the other hand, we believe that new disclosure requirements may be inconsistent with, or may conflict with, WIPO administered treaties such as the PCT and PLT, as well as the WTO-administered TRIPS Agreement."

199. Ghana highlights a number of other issues, including national treatment under the Paris Convention and attribution of ownership; these are:

- (a) disclosure requirements will need to account for multiplicity of sources;
- (b) extent of obligation could place undue burden on the applicant to disclose the origin of all genetic resources and TK used in the invention reasonable effort may be necessary;
 - (c) establishment of disclosure requirements minimum standards; and
- (d) enforcement mechanisms required to deal with GR/TK of multicultural nature and those that cut across national boundaries.

200. CIEL comments on the implications of disclosure requirements on WIPO-administered treaties as follows: WIPO/IP/GR/05/1 "would particularly benefit from distinguishing between the relationship of international intellectual property rules with disclosure requirements developed at the national level and the need for these intellectual property rules to adequately incorporate disclosure requirements. In this regard, it should be noted that existing WIPO treaties and the TRIPS Agreement do not meaningfully prohibit unilateral imposition of disclosure obligations to focus the analysis of the WIPO response, as well as ongoing discussions in intellectual property fora, on ensuring international recognition of such obligations by all countries. For example, while the earlier WIPO Technical Study recognized that disclosure obligations would be permitted under the PCT and PLT as substantive conditions of eligibility for patent rights, [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] fails to acknowledge that disclosure obligations are validly considered substantive conditions and thus are permissible. 102 Similarly, although it is careful to not make pronouncements on the consistency of national disclosure requirements with provisions of the TRIPS Agreement, [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] may wrongly convey that the comments of Member States recited in the First Draft suggesting inconsistency with TRIPS Agreement requirements are valid, by omitting arguments to the contrary. The WIPO response to the CBD request would thus be most valuable by focusing on the modifications needed in international intellectual property rules to ensure international recognition of requirements imposed by various national jurisdictions. Such international recognition would benefit, as suggested above, from further analysis of the modifications needed for imposing mandatory obligations on states to ensure compliance with legal obligations and equitable principles in other jurisdictions to prevent misuse of the intellectual property system. In this way, WIPO could introduce these elements into relevant discussions in WIPO bodies, as well as identify elements of an effective system for international recognition and enforcement of the norms that could be considered in the CBD process."104

¹⁰² [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] at paragraphs 132-35.

Compare, e.g., [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1], note 7, at paragraph 160 (discussing a comment that Article 27.1 of TRIPS prohibits disclosures applicable only to genetic based resources as an impermissible discrimination by "field of technology") with Canada – Patent Protection of Pharmaceutical Products, Report of the Panel, WT/DS114/R, paragraphs 7.99-7.105 (Mar. 17, 2000), available at http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/distab_e.htm (holding that the discrimination prohibition does not prohibit justified distinctions) [footnote in original]

CIEL comments on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

Summary of possible implications for WIPO-administered treaties

Paris Convention: provisions concerning the right of the inventor to be mentioned as such in a patent, the independence of patents and national treatment.

PCT and PLT: provisions concerning documentation and formal requirements, potentially also concerning requirements for evidence of entitlement to apply; no effect on substantive conditions of patentability.

Current relevant proposals concerning the SPLT and revisions to the PCT Regulations

E. INTERNATIONAL CERTIFICATION

201. The fifth element of the CBD COP invitation refers to the 'intellectual property-related issues raised by a proposed international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance.' This proposed system of certification (including within the context of the International Regime under development under the aegis of the CBD) potentially has bearing on specific requirements concerning the declaration of source, evidence of prior informed consent and of equitable benefit sharing. However, it is notable that this issue is under active consideration within the CBD, as the following summary reports:

COP VII 'stressed the need to ... examine [inter alia] an international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance, in particular the operational functionality and cost effectiveness of such an international certificate. On the basis of information provided by Parties and other relevant stakeholders, the Conference of the Parties requested the Executive Secretary to further compile information on existing complementary measures and approaches, and experiences with their implementation, to disseminate such information and to prepare a report on the issue of additional approaches, on the basis of submissions received. ¹⁰⁵

- 202. Further updates on developments from the CBD may be valuable for WIPO's future work, consistent with the feedback process envisaged in the CBD COP invitation to WIPO. Brazil observed that 'discussions on certificates of origin/source/legal provenance are still ongoing in other fora,' but that 'Brazil would approach this matter in the context of the positions expressed with respect to items (a), (b) and (c) above.' A number of national experiences are reported concerning this issue, however. (The requirements of the Andean Community Decision 486 quoted above in Part II may also provide a valuable analogy).
- 203. The following general description of such certificates was prepared by the Secretariat in a document for the third meeting of the Ad Hoc Open-Ended Working Group on Access and Benefit-Sharing:

The certificate has generally been described as a type of passport or permit which accompanies the genetic resource(s) along its life cycle and can be verified at various points of its life cycle and more importantly once the genetic resource(s) has left the provider country. As stated in the European Community submission, "it could

¹⁰⁵

accompany the genetic resources from the collection phase until the marketing of the product which makes use of them and therefore increase transparency and traceability".

The certificate could provide a guarantee that requirements related to the legal acquisition of genetic resources in the country of origin or provider country have been met. The certificate would hence ensure legal certainty for users and ensure providers that their resources are used in conformity with legal obligations.

The certificate of origin/source/legal provenance could contribute to building trust among users and providers of genetic resources. It may, on the one hand, reduce pressures in the provider countries to adopt restrictive legislation on access and benefit-sharing and, on the other hand, provide users with greater legal certainty and provide evidence that users are meeting access and benefit-sharing requirements. ¹⁰⁶

Implications for the operation of patent systems

204. As noted above, certification may be relevant to any specific requirement concerning declaration of the source, evidence of prior informed consent and of equitable benefit sharing, or more broadly to comply with any requirement to demonstrate that relevant materials have been acquired lawfully. A specific issue has concerned how administrative or legal authorities in one jurisdiction are legally or practically capable to make a judgment about an individual's conformity with laws and regulations (including ABS laws and regulations) in another jurisdiction. The issues that arise may depend on the nature of any underlying obligation to provide evidence or specific documentation relating to the legal circumstances of access to and use of genetic resources (and associated TK).

205. To assist in the consideration of this issue, but without prejudging policy or legal questions, it may be helpful to consider two broadly analogous arrangements — (i) the use of 'priority documents,' the copies of original patent (or other IP) applications filed in a foreign jurisdiction, which are used to establish a legal entitlement to the 'right of priority' under national patent law in accordance with Article 4 of the Paris Convention; and (ii) the certification that is required by a patent office in one country to establish that a deposit of a microorganisms for the purposes of patent procedure in an international depositary authority is sufficient under domestic law, in accordance with the system established by the Budapest Convention (see discussion of this system in the Technical Study). On the other hand, it should be noted that these two analogues relate to conformity with patent law standards in the granting country, for which the documentation (Paris priority document or Budapest certification) provides factual evidence or support.

Comments on certification issues

206. Turkey advised that a draft law on the "Registration of Genetic Resources" is in preparation. When the law enters into force, Turkey's genetic resources would be registered, but only in Turkey under this law. Consequently, Turkey supported 'all attempts for an international certification system of genetic resources. In this context, all genetic resources registered in member states may be collected in a central database, a system similar to CBD's biosafety clearing house mechanism. In this context, international minimum standards and

components should be determined, international legal binding mechanisms should be formed, systems should be in compliance within each member state in this matter.'

- 207. The proposal of the EC and its Member States comments that "an indispensable measure that makes the disclosure requirement outlined in the previous sections an effective incentive to comply with access and benefit-sharing rules is the introduction of a simple notification procedure to be followed by the patent offices. The latter, every time they receive a declaration disclosing the country of origin or source of the genetic resource and/or associated TK, should notify this information to a centralised body. This could be done, for instance, by means of a standard form. That would facilitate the monitoring – by countries of origin and TK holders – of the respect of any benefit-sharing arrangements they entered into. The relevant information must be made available in accordance with the present rules on the confidential nature of applications. The notification should be as simple as possible and must not lead to an unnecessary administrative burden for patent offices. The exchange of information should also be managed in a cost-effective way and without unnecessary additional charges imposed on patent applicants. This could be achieved, for example, by using electronic means. It would be adequate to identify in particular the Clearing House Mechanism of the CBD as the central body to which the patent offices should send the information available from the declarations on disclosure.
- 208. The United States of America comments that 'any proposed certificate of origin, source or legal provenance should be separate from intellectual property protection. As noted in our paper, any new systems to promote access and adequate benefit sharing should be developed outside of the patent system to maximize their effectiveness and to avoid a negative impact on patents.'
- 209. The Kyrgyz Republic observes that 'international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance could be used to monitor the use of certain genetic resources as well as during the process of creation of the terms and conditions on access to genetic resources and equitable sharing arising from the use of genetic resources. Matters related to the scope of IPRs on biological subject matter have to be considered on the national level, taking into account all advantages and risks associated with implementation of such legal measures.'
- 210. Switzerland commented that "[s]everal factors weaken the effectiveness of the proposed requirement to declare the source of a genetic resource and/or knowledge, innovations and practices, in patent applications. If the source of a genetic resource or knowledge, innovations and practices, is merely declared in patent applications, States and other stakeholders interested in verifying whether they are named in patent applications would have to scrutinize the large number of patent applications filed annually worldwide. Additionally, some patent offices do not publish patent applications at all or only after the expiration of a certain period of time; furthermore, it may take several years from the filing of a patent application to the granting of a patent and its publication. Thus, if patent applications are not published, the declaration of the source would not become publicly accessible until the patent is granted and published. This could be changed if the office receiving a patent application containing a declaration of the source of a genetic resource or knowledge, innovations and practices, would inform a government agency of the State declared as the source about the respective declaration. Particularly well suited for this task would seem to be the national focal point for access and benefit sharing as described in para. 13 of the Bonn Guidelines. Switzerland therefore invites WIPO, in close collaboration with the CBD, to consider the establishment of a list of government agencies competent to receive this information. This list could be made accessible through WIPO and the Clearing House Mechanism (CHM) of

the CBD. States interested in receiving such information could indicate to WIPO the competent government agency, which would then be included in the proposed list. The information about the declaration could be provided in a standardized letter which is sent to the competent government agency in the State indicated in the patent application. This letter would inform this government agency that the respective State has been declared as the source of the genetic resource or knowledge, innovations and practices, and contain the name and address of the patent applicant."¹⁰⁷

211. CIEL comments that "the issue of international certificates of origin, source, or legal provenance has not been addressed in discussions in the WIPO context. It may thus not be appropriate for the WIPO response to address this particular element of the CBD request. However, if the final WIPO response should examine the issue of international certification, it would be important for it, rather than dealing with aspects that would be better developed and discussed in the CBD framework, to focus on the existing examples of linkages between certification regimes and the intellectual property system. For example, [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] notes two purportedly comparable existing patent requirements – the filing of priority documents to claim a right of priority and the certification of biological deposits – but fails to analyze how those requirements might provide useful models for international recognition of documents certifying compliance with access and benefit sharing requirements. ¹⁰⁸ Further, there are potentially more comparable private and public 'certifications' in the patent system, including the oath or declaration of applicants of their entitlement to apply for a patent and the license required before a foreign application may be filed. 109 Such oaths and licensing requirements help to assure that the applicant is entitled to seek the intellectual property rights, and restrict the ability to seek to acquire such rights when contrary to public policy. By comparison, an international certification regime could prohibit the right to file a patent application without an affirmative certification of entitlement, based on compliance with legal requirements and equitable principles of the country of origin of relevant materials and information. Again, if WIPO addresses the issue, it might assist the CBD process by providing examples of how certification requirements could be recognized and supported by the intellectual property system and also introducing such examples into discussion in its own bodies."110

Summary of IP-related issues concerning certification of genetic resources

Certification (e.g. proposed international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance) may be relevant in:

- establishing factual or legal circumstances of access to the GBMR or TK;
- providing *prima facie* evidence for national authorities that relevant laws of a foreign jurisdiction have been complied with within that distinct jurisdiction
 - providing information for monitoring purposes
- complying with any obligation to provide evidence or documentation relating to the obtaining of GBMR or TK

¹⁰⁷ Comments by Switzerland on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1.

See [WIPO/IP/GR/05/1] at paragraph 167. [footnote in original]

See, e.g., 35 U.S.C. §§ 115, 184. [footnote in original]

¹¹⁰ CIEL comments on WIPO/IP/GR/05/1

Other issues may also include:

- substantive or formality requirements relating to certification
- 'enablement' or other procedures relating to the disclosure of inventions which involve the use of certain GBMR, where documentation provides information on the deposit of microorganisms or GBMR more generally.

PART V: CONCLUSIONS

- 212. This draft examination has drawn on existing materials, the initial comments and observations of WIPO Member States which shaped the initial draft (WIPO/IP/GR/05/1). The present document is an revision of the initial draft, with substantive changes limited to the comments and observations received from Member States and accredited observers. In view of the guidance of WIPO Member States and the requirement to focus on such existing materials, it does not take full account of the more general academic and policy analysis of these issues.¹¹¹
- 213. Important caveats have been mentioned by WIPO Member States and accredited observers during the development of these materials. In brief, these caveats include (but may not be limited to) the concerns that:
 - the draft examination (this document) should not be seen as representing the views of WIPO, its Member States, or its Secretariat;
 - it should be seen as technical input only, and as only one contribution to the work of the CBD on these issues, which may be complemented by the work of other international organizations;
 - it should not be seen as prejudging or pre-empting the work of the CBD on the issues under its mandate;
 - it has not been prepared to advocate any particular approach nor to expound a
 definitive interpretation of any treaty;
 - it should not be seen as providing any form of legal analysis or policy statement concerning the CBD or any other international legal instrument;
 - it should not be seen as advancing or denying any position as to the legality or otherwise of any particular approach, beyond reporting views as expressed on such issues;

111 Some resources include: Carvalho, Nuno Pires de, 2000: Requiring Disclosure of the Origin of Genetic Resources and Prior Informed Consent in Patent Applications Without Infringing the TRIPS Agreement: The Problem and the Solution, Wash. Univ. J. of Law & Policy, Vol. 2 (2000), pp. 371-401. Text can be found at http://law.wustl.edu/Journal/2/p371carvalho.pdf; Carlos Correa, Establishing a Disclosure of Origin Obligation in the TRIPS Agreement, Quaker United Nations Office, Occasional Paper 12, August 2003; Carlos Correa, The Politics and Practicalities of a Disclosure of Origin Obligation, Quaker United Nations Office, Occasional Paper 16, January 2005; Dolder, Fritz, 2003: Patente auf der Grundlage biologischer Ressourcen aus Entwicklungsländern, Mitteilungen der deutschen Patentanwälte, 94. Jg., Heft 8/9 (2003), pp. 349-372; Girsberger Martin A., Transparency Measures Under Patent Law Regarding Genetic Resources and Traditional Knowledge: Disclosure of Source and Evidence of Prior Informed Consent and Benefit Sharing in the Journal of World Intellectual Property (Vol. 7 No. 4, July 2004, pp. 451-489); Cynthia M. Ho, Disclosure of Origin and Prior Informed Consent for Applications of Intellectual Property Rights Based on Genetic Resources: A Technical Study of Implementation Issues, Final Report, July 2003 (see document UNEP/CBD/WG-ABS/2/INF/2); Joshua D. Sarnoff, Consistency with Patent Law Treaties of Application Disclosure Requirements Regarding Origins of Genetic Resources and Traditional Knowledge, Discussion draft of June 23, 2004 available at http://www.piipa.org/DOO Memo.doc; Josef Straus, Angabe des Ursprungs genetischer Ressourcen als Problem des Patentrechts, GRUR Int. 2004, Heft 9, page 795; Josef Straus, Optionen bei der Umsetzung der Richtlinie EG 98/44 über den Schutz biotechnologischer Erfindungen, Chapter F "Angabe des Ursprungs genetischer Ressourcen", 58- (available at

http://www.ige.ch/D/jurinfo/documents/j10015d.pdf).

- it should not be seen as a substitute for any substantive work that WIPO itself may undertake within its own fora in line with the directions and requirements of its Member States; and
- it should not prejudice national positions on the development of legally binding international law.
- 214. The invitation by the CBD included reference to possible further feedback, on the basis of regular reports to the CBD on WIPO's work, "in order for the CBD to provide additional information to WIPO for its consideration in the spirit of mutual supportiveness." Some possible procedural questions that may require Member State consideration and guidance are noted above, in paragraph 17. In addition, a number of substantive issues arose during the preparation of this document that may be referred to the CBD so that it can "provide additional information to WIPO for its consideration in the spirit of mutual supportiveness." Among those that have been noted in the above discussion are:
 - the scope of the CBD in terms of subject matter relevant to access and benefit-sharing (such as biological materials, genetic resources and traditional knowledge related to biological diversity)
 - the nature of incentives relating to the objectives of the CBD;
 - the development of certification relating to access and benefit-sharing;
 - the role of intellectual property in equitable benefit-sharing arrangements;
 - the development of the international regime on access and benefit-sharing, for which disclosure requirements have been indicated as an element to be considered for inclusion.
- 215. This list is intended to be illustrative only. However, WIPO Member States may wish to consider issues or questions which may be referred to the CBD for further information in a spirit of mutual supportiveness, in the light of the continuing interaction foreseen in the invitation by the CBD COP.

216. The Ad Hoc Intergovernmental Meeting is invited to: (i) consider and discuss the present document; (ii) provide guidance on the preparation of a further revised draft to be presented to the WIPO General Assembly at its ordinary session in September 2005 for consideration and decision; (iii) provide guidance on questions such as those outlined in paragraph 213 above concerning the status of the draft document; and (iv) identify any specific questions that may be referred to the CBD for further information in a spirit of mutual supportiveness.

[Annex follows]

WIPO/GR/IP/05/03

ANNEX

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND TO THIS DOCUMENT

- 1. The Secretariat of the CBD reported to the IGC at its second session (WIPO/GRTKF/IC/2/11) on the outcome of the first meeting of the CBD Ad-Hoc Open-ended Working Group on Access and Benefit-sharing ("the Working Group"). The report indicated that the Working Group had developed the draft Bonn Guidelines on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising From Their Use, and had recommended "that the Conference of the Parties [COP] at its sixth meeting invite [WIPO] to prepare a technical study on methods [for requiring disclosure within patent applications of certain information] which are consistent with obligations in treaties administered by [WIPO]" (WIPO/GRTKF/IC/2/11 and UNEP/CBD/COP/6/6).
- 2. The Working Group's Report was considered by the COP at its sixth meeting (held from April 7 to 19, 2002), and as part of its decision on this matter (decision VI/24), the COP invited WIPO to:

"prepare a technical study, and to report its findings to the Conference of the Parties at its seventh meeting, on methods consistent with obligations in treaties administered by the World Intellectual Property Organization for requiring the disclosure within patent applications of, *inter alia*:

- (a) Genetic resources utilized in the development of the claimed inventions;
- (b) The country of origin of genetic resources utilized in the claimed inventions;
- (c) Associated traditional knowledge, innovations and practices utilized in the development of the claimed inventions;
- (d) The source of associated traditional knowledge, innovations and practices; and,
 - (e) Evidence of prior informed consent."
- 3. This invitation was transmitted to the IGC at its third session (WIPO/GRTKF/IC/3/12), which agreed to respond positively and adopted a work schedule which would allow for the completion and transmission of the study in time for the seventh meeting of the COP, then scheduled to be held in Kuala Lumpur from March 9 to 20, 2004. Between the IGC's third and fourth sessions, a questionnaire was developed in consultation with Member States (WIPO/GRTKF/IC/Q.3) and then circulated to Member States regarding the intellectual property issues identified for study in the invitation contained in Decision VI/24.
- 4. At its fourth session, the IGC considered and commented upon a draft technical study (WIPO/GRTKF/IC/4/11), which was based on questionnaire responses from WIPO Member States. The IGC invited further comments for incorporation into a revised version of the draft study, which was then prepared and submitted to the IGC at its fifth session (WIPO/GRTKF/IC/5/10). The IGC agreed to transmit this draft technical study to the WIPO General Assembly for consideration and possible transmission to the seventh meeting of the COP.

WIPO/IP/GR/05/3 Annex, page 2

Transmission of the study to the CBD, and further steps

5. At its Thirtieth Session, the WIPO General Assembly adopted the draft revised technical study for transmission to the seventh meeting of the COP. This decision was subject to the following understanding:

"The [Study] has been prepared to contribute to international discussion and analysis of this general issue, and to help clarify some of the legal and policy matters it raises. It has not been prepared to advocate any particular approach nor to expound a definitive interpretation of any treaty. It is to be regarded as a technical input to facilitate policy discussion and analysis in the CBD and in other fora, and it should not be considered a formal paper expressing a policy position on the part of WIPO, its Secretariat or its Member States."

Following the General Assembly decision, the Technical Study was transmitted to the Secretariat of the CBD together with this understanding.

- 6. The Technical Study was subsequently considered by the Working Group at its second meeting, held from December 1 to 5, 2003 (UNEP/CBD/COP/7/6, paragraphs 10 to 12, and 81). This led to the adoption of recommendations to the COP on the issues addressed in the Technical Study (UNEP/CBD/COP/7/6, paragraphs 75 to 85). The seventh COP met in Kuala Lumpur from February 9 to 20, 2004, and duly considered these recommendations. COP Decision VII/19 on '[a]ccess and benefit-sharing as related to genetic resources' included a reference to the Study and invited further work on this issue. Among other things, this decision:
 - noted the technical study with appreciation;
 - requested the CBD Ad hoc Open-ended Working Group on Access and Benefit-Sharing to identify issues related to the disclosure of origin of genetic resources and associated traditional knowledge in applications for intellectual property rights, including those raised by a proposed international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance, and transmit the results of this examination to WIPO and other relevant forums; and
 - invited WIPO to examine, and where appropriate address, taking into account the need to ensure that this work is supportive of and does not run counter to the objectives of the CBD, issues regarding the interrelation of access to genetic resources and disclosure requirements in intellectual property rights applications, including, inter alia:
 - (a) Options for model provisions on proposed disclosure requirements;
 - (b) Practical options for intellectual property rights application procedures with regard to the triggers of disclosure requirements;
 - (c) Options for incentive measures for applicants;
 - (d) Identification of the implications for the functioning of disclosure requirements in various WIPO-administered treaties;
 - (e) Intellectual property-related issues raised by a proposed international certificate of origin/source/legal provenance;

WIPO/IP/GR/05/3 Annex, page 3

and regularly provide reports to the CBD on its work, in particular on actions or steps proposed to address the above issues, in order for the CBD to provide additional information to WIPO for its consideration in the spirit of mutual supportiveness.

[End of Annex and of document]